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To the Hon Michelle Roberts MLA 
Minister for Housing and Works 
 
In accordance with section 66 of the 
Financial Administration and Audit Act 
1985, I hereby submit, for your 
information and presentation to 
Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Department of Housing and Works for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2006.
 
The Annual Report has been prepared 
in accordance with the provisions of 
the Financial Administration and Audit 
Act 1985. 
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ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 



A  N  N  U  A  L          R  E  P  O  R  T ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS 

2 0 0 5   -   0 6 
Overview 

 

 2     DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS 

The Department of Housing and Works was created under section 35 
of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 to support the Minister for 
Housing and Works in administering the housing and works portfolio. 
The Department delivers the following works-related functions: 
 

Construction      
(pages 11 – 16) 

• Acts as the Government’s lead agent in 
the planning, design, construction, and 
fit-out of government buildings 

• Assists other government agencies with 
their asset planning needs 

Property Management 
(pages 17 – 18) 

• Coordinates the effective delivery and 
ongoing management of the 
Government’s office accommodation 
portfolio 

• Manages the Fremantle Prison 

Maintenance      
(pages 19 – 20) 

• Building maintenance, minor works and 
property services to schools, health 
facilities, police stations and other 
government buildings 

Building Industry 
Development      
(pages 21 – 23) 

• Provides policy advice to the Minister, 
the Director General and the 
Department on building and 
construction industry matters 

 
 
This annual report is concerned with these works-related 
functions only. 
 
The housing functions of the Department are delivered through the 
State Housing Commission, the Government Employees’ Housing 
Authority and the Country Housing Authority. Details of the housing 
functions are contained in the individual annual reports for these 
statutory authorities. 
 

 
Our Vision 
 
Responding to the hopes of all 
Western Australians for their 
housing and construction needs. 
 
 
Our Mission 
 
Leading in the provision of housing 
services and development of a 
built environment which contributes 
to: 
 
• supportive, vibrant and 

sustainable communities 
• a robust economy 
• strong regional development 
• the natural environment 
 
for the benefit of all Western 
Australians. 
 
 
Our Role 
 
To provide and support housing for 
Western Australians who cannot 
otherwise afford their own homes 
by arranging affordable housing 
finance, rental housing and land 
(delivered through the housing-
related agencies). 
 
To deliver, manage and maintain 
non-residential government 
buildings in Western Australia. 
 
To provide policy, legislation and 
regulation of the building and 
construction industry in Western 
Australia. 
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The Department is managed by the Director General (who is also 
General Manager of the State Housing Commission). The Department, 
together with the housing-related statutory authorities, operates under 
one administrative structure, as shown below. 
 

HOUSING AND WORKS PORTFOLIO 
ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE UP UNTIL 30 JUNE 2006 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Change in Structure as from 1 July 2006 
The administrative structure changed on 1 July 2006 with the 
proclamation of the Machinery of Government (Miscellaneous 
Amendments) Act 2006. The Act, which was aimed at streamlining 
government, merged the Government Employees’ Housing Authority 
with the State Housing Commission. The merged agency was 
renamed the ‘Housing Authority’ as from 1 July 2006. The Housing 
Authority is governed by the Director General of the Department rather 
than a Board of Management. 
 
Responsible Minister 
The Minister responsible for the Department is the Hon Michelle 
Roberts MLA, Minister for Housing and Works; Consumer Protection; 
Heritage; Land Information. 
 
Legislation Administered 
The Department is responsible for administering the following Acts: 
 
• Architects Act 2004 
• Construction Contracts Act 2004 
• Dividing Fences Act 1961 
• Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960  - Parts 

V111 and XV 
• Public Works Act 1902 
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The last year has been one of the busiest on record for the housing 
and construction industry, with much of this due to the resources 
sector as it tries to meet China’s seemingly insatiable demand for iron 
and energy. 
 
As a result, the commercial construction industry experienced 
extremely high levels of activity and costs and workforce issues 
became critical. 
 
The high level of economic activity has also resulted in 2005-06 being 
a very busy year for the Department, which managed construction 
projects worth $2.1 billion. 
 
As part of this, work progressed on the construction and 
redevelopment of many significant public buildings including the 
Ellenbrook and Comet Bay Middle Schools, the Port Hedland Aged 
Care Facility and the police forensics facility at Midland. 
 
Several major new projects also got underway during the year. These 
include the $195 million Perth Arena, the $230 million Central Law 
Courts redevelopment, and the $66 million performing arts venue in 
Northbridge. 
 
All the activity taking place on the ground and at construction sites 
around the State was also being reflected within the offices of the 
Department. 
 
We were kept busy on the legislative front, with an Act being 
introduced to regulate the architectural profession, as well as the 
Department contributing to a major review of building industry 
legislation. 
 
We also assisted the Department of Treasury and Finance to prepare 
a Strategic Asset Management Framework to achieve better value for 
money by improving asset management and capital investment across 
the public sector. 
 
And as part of a wider reform of government procurement processes, 
the Department saved $3.6 million in 2005-06 by implementing better 
procurement strategies. 
 
Elsewhere, our commercial property section administered 379 leases 
and returned $14.2 million in net rent from government and private 
tenants. 
 
And the Department provided maintenance and minor works on 
government buildings, such as schools and health facilities, to the 
value of $163 million. 
 
The Department also continued its commitment to Indigenous 
employment through its Indigenous Traineeship Program that provided 
on-the-job training to 12 people. During the year, the Department 
maintained its numbers of Indigenous staff at around eight per cent of 
its total workforce. 
 
On top of that, the Department offered 40 new apprenticeship places in 
the building and construction trades in the first half of 2006 to 

 

 
 

BOB MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

‘Several major new projects got 
underway during the year, 
including the $195 million Perth 
Arena, the $230 million Central 
Law Courts redevelopment, and 
the $66 million performing arts 
venue in Northbridge.’ 
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address chronic skills shortages, and we’re looking at extending that 
pilot scheme into regional areas.  
 
But we’re not just content with addressing current needs, we’re 
planning for our future. The years ahead are likely to be just as busy as 
we try to anticipate and work in an unpredictable construction industry. 
 
To help the Department better cater for these challenges, we recently 
released a Statement of Strategic Intent and Priorities. It’s basically a 
blueprint to concentrate and guide our efforts in coming years. 
 
When implemented, it will help us ensure that our buildings and works 
programs are well led: with the projects we undertake being well 
researched and developed, well managed from concept to completion, 
and buildings and facilities well maintained throughout their ‘life’. 
 
You can read more on the details of the statement in the Future 
Directions section of this Annual Report, along with an outline of the 
Department’s critical priorities for the next 12 months. 
 
This Annual Report is more than a recounting of the agency’s activities 
and finances in a challenging operating year. 
 
It is also a record of how the people who make up the Department met 
those challenges, and how they continue to demonstrate leadership in 
the many areas in which they work. 
 
With their combined efforts, the Department continues to grow into its 
pivotal role of helping underpin the economic and social fabric of our 
State by helping build better communities. And I intend to further invest 
in developing the skills of our staff so that they can achieve their full 
potential, and thus lay a firm foundation for our future success.  
 
I’d also like to acknowledge and thank my immediate predecessor Bob 
Thomas for his role in guiding the Department for much of last year. 
 
Finally, I’d like to formally welcome our new Minister for Housing and 
Works, Michelle Roberts MLA, and thank her for her ongoing support 
and enthusiasm for our work. 
 
 
 
 

 
Bob Mitchell 
Acting Director General 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘With [the] combined efforts [of our 
people], the Department continues 
to grow into its pivotal role of 
helping underpin the economic and 
social fabric of our State by helping 
build better communities.’ 
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• The Department managed capital works projects with an estimated 
total cost of $2.1 billion. Spending on these projects totalled 
$324 million in 2005-06. 

• Major projects included the Ellenbrook and Comet Bay Middle 
Schools, the Port Hedland Aged Care Facility and the Police 
Operations Forensic Support Facility at Midland. 

• Work commenced on a number of significant projects in the Perth 
CBD including: 

- Perth Arena (previously known as the Multipurpose Indoor 
Entertainment and Sports Stadium) 

- Central Law Courts 

- The Old Treasury Building redevelopment 

- A new Performing Arts Venue for Northbridge 

• The Department implemented a policy to boost Indigenous 
employment and training through its construction programs. 

• The Department assisted the Department of Treasury and Finance 
to prepare a Strategic Asset Management Framework to improve 
asset management and capital investment across the State public 
sector. 

• Administered 379 leases for government tenancies in 297 privately 
owned buildings. The Department managed 91 378 square metres 
of government-owned office space in 20 buildings controlled by the 
Minister for Works. 

• Delivered $163 million of building maintenance, minor works and 
property services to schools, health facilities, police stations and 
other government buildings in metropolitan and regional Western 
Australia. 

• The Commonwealth, State and Territory Governments ratified an 
Intergovernment Agreement on Building Regulation Reform. 

• The Department offered 40 new apprenticeship places in building 
and construction trades, in the first half of 2006, in response to the 
shortage of skilled workers in WA’s building and construction 
industry. 

• The new Architects Act 2004 and Architects Regulations 2005 
came into operation on 16 November 2005. The new Act marks a 
significant milestone in the reform of architects’ regulation in this 
State. 

• The Department is working with the Department of Consumer and 
Employment Protection on a major review of building industry 
legislation. The Department is reviewing the building regulatory 
framework, aiming to streamline regulations governing the building 
industry and bring Western Australia in line with national reforms. 

 

 
 

The Old Treasury Building, as seen from 
St Georges Terrace, is scheduled for 
redevelopment by the Department. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
One of the many leased properties 
managed by the Department. 
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• Fremantle Prison’s system of tunnels was opened to the public in 
June 2005. The unique tunnels tours are quickly becoming one of 
Western Australia’s premier soft-adventure tours, with 10 000 
people taking the fully guided tours in its first year. Also, a new gift 
shop was opened in the restored and adapted Gatehouse complex 
in February 2006. 

• Against a general tourism market decline of six per cent, the 
Fremantle Prison attracted a record 150 000 visitors – an increase 
of 16 per cent on the previous year. 

 

 



A  N  N  U  A  L         R  E  P  O  R  T ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS 

2 0 0 5   -   0 6 
Future Directions 

 

 8     DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS 

In May 2006, the Acting Director General of the Department of 
Housing and Works released a ‘Statement of Strategic Intent and 
Priorities’. The statement describes three key areas that the 
Department and its housing-related agencies will focus its activities 
in ‘playing our part in building a better community’. These are: 
 
1. More People in Houses – to maximise the number of people in 

the community with a ‘roof over their head’. (This intention 
relates mainly to the functions of the housing-related agencies.) 

2. Improving Aboriginal Communities – to play a greater role in 
holistic approaches involving the community, private sector and 
Government in addressing the major social issues confronting 
Aboriginal people in remote communities and regional centres. 
(This intention relates mainly to the functions of the housing-
related agencies.) 

3. Improving Building and Infrastructure – to ensure that the 
development, design, delivery, procurement and maintenance 
processes for infrastructure and building across government are 
world class and provide great facilities. 

 

The Department will focus on the following critical priorities for the 
next 12 months: 
 
• Investing more resources into the areas that deal directly with 

our clients to ensure that our services are both of a high 
standard and delivered in a timely way thus recognising our 
clients’ needs. 

• Ensuring that a commitment to customising our products and 
services to meet our clients’ needs is adopted. 

• Partnering with our colleagues in Government and business to 
ensure that we develop and deliver superior quality products and 
services.  

• Engaging with staff to determine their issues, concerns and ideas 
for improving the Department’s services and products and their 
work environment. 

• Ensuring that collaborative approaches are adopted across the 
Department in progressing our projects and providing our services. 

• Providing relevant and accessible professional development for all 
people in the Department. 

• Establishing a structure for the Department that provides the 
vehicle to deliver clarity for the roles, functions and responsibilities 
we have and ensuring good governance exists across all functions 
of the Department.  

• Commence the strategic planning process to further develop our 
‘Playing our part in building a better community’ strategy. 

 
 

Our Strategic Intentions 
 
 
1 More People in Houses 

2 Improving Aboriginal 
Communities 

3 Improving Building and 
Infrastructure 

 
 
 
‘I’m sure that by focusing our 
attention on these three key areas, 
we will return significant benefits 
back to our community. These will 
include improved health outcomes, 
greater prosperity, improved 
community cohesion, greater 
productivity and better returns on 
the public money that we are 
entrusted to spend.’ 
 
Bob Mitchell, Acting Director General 
 
 



ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS A  N  N  U  A  L     R  E  P  O  R  T

Our Contribution to Government Goals and Outcomes 2 0 0 5  -  0 6
 

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS       9  

 
The Government’s plan for improving the quality of life of all Western 
Australians is described in its document ‘Better Planning: Better 
Services – A Strategic Planning Framework for the Western Australian 
Public Sector.’ This document is built around five strategic Goals for 
Government relating to people and communities, the economy, 
environment, regions and governance. 
 
The Department’s contribution to the achievement of the five Goals for 
Government is summarised below. 
 
 

Government Goal Department of Housing and Works’ Contribution 

Goal 1:  People and the Communities 

To enhance the quality of life and 
wellbeing of all people throughout 
Western Australia. 

 

This Goal includes outcomes such as a world-class education, an excellent 
public health system and a society that is physically active through its 
participation and achievement in sport and recreation. The Department 
contributes to these outcomes by planning, designing and constructing 
buildings such as schools, health and recreational facilities on behalf of 
other government agencies. 

Goal 2: The Economy 

To develop a strong economy that 
delivers more jobs, more opportunities 
and greater wealth to Western Australians 
by creating the conditions required for 
investment and growth. 

 

The Department contributes to this Goal by ensuring that social 
infrastructure such as schools, health facilities and recreational facilities are 
built and maintained to a high standard. This helps create an environment 
that encourages learning, skills and the development of creativity for 
competitive advantage. 

Through its procurement and construction activities, the Department is also 
contributing to new jobs and employment growth. 

Goal 3: The Environment 

To ensure that Western Australia has an 
environment in which resources are 
managed, developed and used 
sustainably, biological diversity is 
preserved and habitats protected. 

 

The Department is committed to reducing adverse impacts on the 
environment through waste avoidance and resource recovery. Included in 
the annual report are details of some of the Department’s approaches to 
waste, energy, water, vehicles and travel. 

There are also details of the ways in which the Department is applying 
Environmentally Sustainable Design principles in its design and construction 
projects. 

The Department has advised all relevant agencies that from 1 July 2006, 
existing government tenants are required to assess their energy 
performance and bring their tenancy to a minimum 4 star Australian Building 
Greenhouse Rating (ABGR) performance level. Agencies are also required 
to include a social impact assessment that considers the environmental and 
sustainability impacts of capital works projects over $1 million. 

Goal 4: The Regions 

To ensure that regional Western Australia 
is strong and vibrant. 

 

The Department has a strong presence in regional Western Australia with 
offices in the Southern, South West, Central/Goldfields, Midwest/Gascoyne, 
Pilbara, Kimberley and Wheatbelt areas. This provides for: 

• enhanced decision-making based on a thorough understanding of 
regional issues 

• effective service delivery to regions that is responsive to the need of 
diverse communities. 

The Department provides services, such as maintenance, to clients in 
regional areas through these offices. 
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Goal 5: Governance 

To govern for all Western Australians in 
an open, effective and efficient manner 
that also ensures a sustainable future. 

 

The Department contributes to this Goal by working with other government 
agencies, in such areas as capital investment and delivery of capital works 
projects, to ensure whole-of-government approaches to decision-making. 

The Department has a strong authorisations framework in which authority 
and accountability is shared across the organisation. The Department is a 
strong values-based organisation that promotes open and honest 
communication and integrity in the workplace. 
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Overview 
The Department of Housing and Works performs a vital role in 
delivering the State Government's capital works program. The 
Department acts as the Government’s lead agent in the planning, 
design, construction, and fit-out of government buildings. This service 
is delivered using a combination of in-house expertise and external 
consultants and contractors. 
 
The Department is also responsible for assisting other government 
agencies with their asset planning needs. 
 
The ongoing construction boom has created a challenging environment 
for the delivery of the capital works program. The Department’s 
Building Cost Index showed an average increase in Perth building 
costs of 12 per cent for 2005-06 as a direct result of market pressures. 
These pressures have also led to reductions in the number of 
contractors tendering for capital works projects. Despite these 
challenges, the Department in 2005-06 managed an unprecedented 
capital works program valued at $2.1 billion. Spending on these 
projects totalled $324 million in 2005-06. 
 
 
Major Projects 
The Department worked on a number of projects of significant social 
and cultural benefit to the State in 2005-06. These included: 
 
 Perth Arena 

The Department is the lead agency for the construction of the Perth 
Arena facility. The State is developing and intends to operate a 
stadium on Lot 1191 Wellington Street in Perth to cater for a range of 
entertainment and sporting events. The Perth Arena will provide 
12 000 seats in sporting mode and 14 000 seats in concert mode. 
 
The estimated cost of the project is $195 million. The construction 
contract is scheduled for acceptance in October 2006 with occupation 
by mid-2009. 
 
 
 AK Reserve 

The AK reserve site is located adjacent to the existing Perry Lakes 
sports precinct, which consists of the Challenge Stadium and the 
University of Western Australia’s sports parks. The Government 
proposes the construction of new stadia for the sports of athletics, 
rugby and basketball. The new facilities will replace those currently 
located at the Perry Lakes Stadium. Consultants have been engaged 
and the total project cost is estimated at $60 million, with completion in 
July 2008. The project will receive funding from the eventual sale of 
residential land at the Perry Lakes Stadium site. 
 
 
 Old Treasury Building 

The concept for the redevelopment of the Old Treasury Buildings 
(OTB) site is to provide for ongoing conservation of the heritage 
buildings, as well as a new building to accommodate Government 

Highlights of 2005-06 

• The Department managed 
capital works projects with an 
estimated total cost of 
$2.1 billion. Spending on these 
projects totalled $324 million in 
2005-06. 

• Major projects included the 
Ellenbrook and Comet Bay 
Middle Schools, the Port 
Hedland Aged Care Facility 
and the Police Operations 
Forensic Support Facility at 
Midland. 

• Work commenced on a 
number of significant projects 
in the Perth CBD including: 

- Perth Arena 

- Central Law Courts 

- The Old Treasury Building 
redevelopment 

- A new Performing Arts 
Venue for Northbridge 

• A ‘Strategic Asset 
Management Framework’ was 
rolled out to improve asset 
management and capital 
investment across the State 
public sector. 
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tenancies and other commercial activities to reactivate the area after 
hours. 
 
Architects completed the schematic design for redevelopment of the 
OTB to integrate a new building component with the heritage buildings 
to increase the amount of available office space. A budget of 
$4.1 million has been approved for procurement planning, design 
development and investigative works within the existing building to 
clarify heritage issues. Full restoration costs for the heritage buildings 
have been estimated to be in excess of $84 million. 
 
 Perth CBD Courts 

The CBD Courts project comprises two parts: a new District Court 
Building being procured by a Public Private Partnership, and the 
refurbishment of the Central Law Courts building through State 
funding. The total project cost is $230 million. 
 
Construction has commenced on the District Court building, with 
completion due in December 2008.  
 
The design phase of the refurbishment of the Central Law Courts 
building is nearing completion and external façade refurbishment has 
commenced. The internal refurbishment will follow the completion of 
the District Court Building. Completion is due in May 2009. 
 
 140 William Street 

In 2003, the Government made a decision to acquire land surrounding 
the rail station site at 140 William Street to ensure revitalisation of an 
important part of the CBD. The Government has committed to 
22 000m² of office space for occupation by government agencies, as 
well as the option to sell the long-term leasehold of Albert Facey 
House to enhance potential planning outcomes. The Department is 
managing the government office space leasing.  
 
 New Performing Arts Centre 

A New Performing Arts Centre is to be constructed within the Perth 
Cultural Centre on the corner of William Street and Roe Street. The 
new venue will include a main theatre with a seating capacity of 
approximately 550 and a smaller studio with a seating capacity of 200.  
 
An international design competition was used to select the design team 
and scheme.  
 
The Department of Culture and the Arts has received approval for 
funding of $66.2 million for the winning design. It is intended that 
construction will commence in March 2007, with completion by late 
2008. 
 
 Multi Function Police Facilities 

Multi Function police facilities deliver services including policing, child 
protection and justice services and are being introduced into eight 
remote Indigenous communities. This initiative is being developed in 
consultation with the communities. 
 

 

 
 
Design concept of the Perth Arena, which 
will provide 12 000 seats in sporting mode 
and 14 000 seats in concert mode. 
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Facilities are now completed and operating in Balgo and Warburton. 
The facility at Kalumburu is nearing completion and others at 
Warakurna, Djarindjin and Bidyadanga are in construction. The cost of 
the program is $24 million. 
 
The facility at Warmun was tendered on May 2006 and the facility at 
Jigalong was tendered in June 2006. 
 
 State Memorial Projects 

The following memorial projects were completed during 2005-06: 
 
• restoration of the Western Australian War Memorial in Kings Park 

due to deterioration 
• erection of the second stage of the Welcome Wall at Victoria Quay, 

Fremantle, commemorating migrants who came to Western 
Australia 

• erection of a statue of John Curtin located at the Fremantle Town 
Hall to commemorate the 175th anniversary of the settlement of 
WA. 

 
 
Building Designs 
During the year, the Department entered into 444 contracts for building 
design services. Architects and project managers commenced work on 
a variety of projects including: 
 
 Rockingham – Kwinana Hospital 

The $92 million, 240-bed redevelopment of the Rockingham-Kwinana 
Hospital will integrate the recently completed Emergency Building and 
the existing hospital with new accommodation and services. This will 
significantly improve health services for the Rockingham and Kwinana 
region. The project will be completed in stages from late 2008 to the 
end of 2009. 
 
 Kensington BioDiversity Science Centre 

Work commenced on a new BioDiversity Science Centre for the 
Department of Environment and Conservation. The $16 million stage 
one development includes a herbarium and science facilities in 
Kensington. 
 
 Schools and Colleges for the Department of Education and 

Training 
Contracts were awarded for work to commence on Atwell and 
Dalyellup Middle Schools, Karratha Senior High School and the 
Kwinana TAFE Auto Tech Centre. 
 
 Kimberley Broadband Solutions Project 

The Department provided substantial assistance to the Department of 
Industry and Resources in developing contract documents to provide 
broadband telecommunications infrastructure to remote communities in 
the Kimberley region. 
 

 
 
 

 
Broome Hospital … one of the many 
projects that the Department worked on 
during the year. 
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The $1.8 million project is the subject of joint funding from the 
Commonwealth and State Governments. The funding agreement is 
due to be executed in March 2007. 
 
Non-Residential Building Construction Contracts 

 Commencements 
The Department also awarded 209 non-residential building works 
contracts, at a combined contract value of $398 million. The following 
table provides examples of the construction contracts commenced 
during the year: 
 

Project Contract 
Value 

Expected 
Completion 

Date 

Ellenbrook Middle School and 
Community Library 

$28.0m January 2007 

Comet Bay College (located in Secret 
Harbour, south of Rockingham) – Years 8 
to 10 students 

$22.7m January 2007 

Australian Marine Complex Wharf 
Development (Phase 1) 

$18.5m May 2007 

Cape Naturaliste College, Vasse – Years 
7 to 10 students 

$18.1m Stage One - 
January 2008 

Derby Health Services Redevelopment – 
new ward block 

$13.9m December 2006 

 
 
 Completions 

A number of significant projects were completed in 2005-06, including: 
 
 Shark Bay World Heritage Interpretive Centre 

The $8 million Shark Bay World Heritage Interpretive Centre was 
opened in March 2007. The centre has received awards from the 
Institute of Architects and Master Builders Association for architects 
Woodhead International and contractor Cruthers Constructions. 
 
This challenging project involved the simultaneous development of 
$2.5 million of interpretive content (by Freeman Ryan Design) and the 
award winning $4 million building to produce an integrated, world-class 
exhibition centre. The building was designed to cope with a highly 
saline coastal environment subject to cyclones and storm surges, while 
achieving a standard of presentation that reflects the high quality of the 
visitor experience. The Shire of Shark Bay contracted the project, with 
the Department providing project direction. The project was delivered 
within a fixed budget comprising State and Commonwealth grants. 
 
 Geraldton Marine Education Training and Industry Research 

Centre 
The Batavia Coast Marine Centre for the Department of Education and 
Training (Central West TAFE) and Abrolhos Islands Research Institute 
for the Department of Fisheries is a new combined facility to provide 
training and research in all aspects of the marine and fishing industry in 
Geraldton. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Construction on the Comet Bay College is 
well advanced. The building design takes 
full advantage of its location close to the 
coast with views of the Indian Ocean. 
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The project included construction of new teaching and research 
facilities at Separation Point in Geraldton for $11.6 million.  
 
Extensive aquaculture facilities have required a complex system of 
water tanks, growth tanks and water management systems. The 
project included construction of a seawater intake pipeline 
approximately 500 metres into the ocean to supply water for the 
aquaculture facilities. 
 
The facility officially opened in July 2006. 
 
Major Initiatives 
The Department needs to continue to focus on providing Government 
and taxpayers value for money in the construction of social 
infrastructure, whilst at the same time maintaining a high standard of 
design and innovation. A number of initiatives have been implemented 
in 2005-06 to achieve better value for money. 
 
 Strategic Asset Management Framework 

The Department assisted the Department of Treasury and Finance to 
prepare a Strategic Asset Management Framework. The policy 
document was released in late 2005. 
 
The Framework is designed to improve asset management practices 
across the State public sector to assist in: 
 
• making the best possible use of existing assets 
• ensuring existing assets are appropriately maintained 
• maximising value for money when investing in new assets. 
 
Sixteen large agencies have been introduced to the Framework to 
date. The Department has commenced the rollout of formal training 
sessions to all agencies. 
 
The Department has a formal role in approving project Business Cases 
and Project Definition Plans on behalf of the Department of Treasury 
and Finance. To date, some 36 business cases and 25 Project 
Definition Plans have been assessed. 
 
 Other Initiatives 

• The Department is seeking higher levels of occupational health 
and safety compliance on government construction sites. 
Occupational health and safety performance, including WorkSafe 
records of prohibition notices and prosecutions, is part of the 
tender evaluation for every tender for building contracts above 
$500 000. For contracts that exceed $2 million, the Department 
also engages appropriate experts to ensure the building contractor 
is meeting contractual obligations with respect to the occupational 
health and safety requirements. 

• The Department has established ‘pick and buy’ panels of 
preselected consultants. Architects, project managers and cost 
managers can be appointed from these panels without the need to 
go to tender. This will reduce the time and money in engaging 
consultants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The Department assisted the Department of 
Treasury and Finance to prepare a 
Strategic Asset Management Framework. It 
is designed to improve asset management 
and capital investment across the State 
public sector. 
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• Financial due diligence processes are undertaken to minimise the 
risk of a contractor becoming insolvent whilst engaged on a 
government building contract. The Department has improved 
assessments undertaken prior to letting non-residential and 
residential construction contracts. 

 
 
Government Architect 
The Department also supports the Government Architect. The role of 
the Government Architect includes providing advice on strategic 
approaches to major development projects and undertaking 
initiatives to improve the design of public buildings and spaces and 
enhancing the quality of the built environment. 
 
Professor Geoffrey London commenced as Western Australian 
Government Architect in February 2004. Professor London is a 
practising architect and teacher of both Design and Architectural 
History at the University of Western Australia. 
 
Significant initiatives have so far included the drafting of an 
Architecture Policy outlining strategies for improving the design 
outcome of civic projects, and initiating a review of design quality in 
Public Private Partnerships processes. The Government Architect is 
currently involved in a number of high-profile public projects. 
 
 
Outlook 
The Department will manage an increasingly large non-residential 
building program in 2006-07 with expenditure estimated at 
$500 million, well in excess of the $324 million expenditure for 2005-
06. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The role of the Government 
Architect includes providing advice 
on major development projects and 
undertaking initiatives to improve 
the design of public buildings and 
spaces. 
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Overview 
The Department is responsible for coordinating the effective delivery 
and ongoing management of the State Government's office 
accommodation portfolio. The following services are provided in 
relation to this function: 
 
• whole-of-government corporate property advice 
• policy coordination, focusing on the establishment of appropriate 

benchmarks, standards and guidelines 
• strategic and operational planning for the office accommodation 

portfolio 
• central management of government owned, multi-tenanted office 

buildings 
• procurement and administration of leases for State Government 

agencies. 
 
These services are provided under three major streams. 
 
Commercial Property 
In 2005-06, the Department administered 379 leases for government 
tenancies in 297 privately owned buildings. It managed 91 378 square 
metres of government-owned office space in 20 buildings controlled by 
the Minister for Works. 
 
The Department received $21.7 million in gross rental payments from 
both government and private tenants in these buildings and returned 
$14.2 million in net rent to the State. The difference represents the 
outgoings/running costs (e.g. cleaning, security, utilities consumption, 
lift and air-conditioning maintenance etc) applicable to these buildings. 
 
 
Asset Strategy 
The Asset Strategy Branch was newly formed in 2005-06 to: 
 
• develop the strategic direction of the State Government’s office 

accommodation portfolio, incorporating leased and owned 
buildings 

• assist State Government agencies and whole-of-government with 
aspects of asset planning. 

 
The branch worked on a number of strategic plans including: 
 
• CBD Office Accommodation Strategic Plan 
• the first Strategic Asset Plan for the Department of Housing and 

Works 
• the Perth Metropolitan Office Accommodation Strategic Plan  
• the Regional Office Accommodation Strategic Plan. 
 
The Asset Strategy Branch also provided secretariat support to the 
Major Government Projects Taskforce, the senior officers’ advisory 
committee, the Government Office Accommodation Working Group, 
and the Works Centre of Expertise. 

 

 

 
 
The Governor Stirling Tower, Perth – one of 
the many leased properties managed by the 
Department.  
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Evaluation 
The Evaluation Branch supported the Government’s Strategic Asset 
Management Framework policy by: 
 
• providing advice to agencies on asset planning and management 

processes 
• evaluating specific new building project proposals for compliance 

with the framework. 
 
The branch assessed the readiness of capital works project plans 
before commencement of the design and procurement process. It also 
provided advice on the adequacy of project brief development, cost 
estimates, time plans and checked that project risks were identified 
and managed. 
 
The branch also provided advice on project costs and budgets, and is 
developing approaches to improving predictions of future cost 
increases. 
 
 
Fremantle Prison 
The Department also manages and operates the Fremantle Prison. 
The prison is one of Western Australia's premier heritage sites, located 
in the heart of the port city. It was built by convicts in the 1850s and 
was closed as a place of incarceration in 1991 after 136 years of 
continuous use. It was opened to the public in 1992 as a visitor 
attraction in recognition of its heritage value. 
 
Underlining the significance of the Fremantle Prison as a heritage icon, 
it was inscribed on the National Heritage List in August 2006 – the first 
Western Australian place and only the thirteenth place listed nationally. 
 
Fremantle Prison’s system of tunnels was opened to the public in June 
2005. The unique tunnels tours are quickly becoming one of Western 
Australia’s premier soft-adventure tour products, with 10 000 people 
experiencing the fully guided tours in its first year. Also a new gift shop 
was opened in the restored and adapted Gatehouse complex in 
February 2006. 
 
Against a general tourism market decline of six per cent, the Prison 
attracted a record 150 000 visitors – an increase of 16 per cent on the 
previous year. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
In 2005, the Fremantle Prison was 
recognised as Fremantle’s top 
tourism attraction at the Fremantle 
First Tourism Awards. 
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Overview 
The Department provides a range of building maintenance, minor 
works and property services to various client agencies throughout the 
State. Buildings such as schools, health facilities, and police stations 
are maintained in good order for the convenience and safety of the 
public and staff. 
 
 
Services 
In 2005-06, the Department delivered $105 million of services in the 
metropolitan area and $58 million to various government agencies in 
regional Western Australia. 
 
A newly created in-house project team arranged some of the services 
in the metropolitan area. The team took over the services previously 
provided through three service arranger contracts. In the metropolitan 
area: 
 
• The Western Property in-house project team directly arranged 

services for 28 client agencies using approximately 300 small 
business suppliers who service the arrangement through a pre-
qualified Service Providers Panel. The value of works arranged 
through the in-house team was $10 million. 

• A further 10 client agencies had services arranged by four service 
arrangers through 11 individual service level contracts, including 
one energy performance contract. The value of works arranged 
through the service arrangers was $53 million. 

• Breakdown repairs were arranged through the Western Property 
contracted One Call Centre located in Manjimup. The call centre 
registered 99 218 jobs for the metropolitan and the Southern and 
South West Regions, at a value of $26 million. 

• Around $12 million worth of building relocation work, involving 290 
buildings around the State, was undertaken during the year. 

 
With a new service delivery model in place for building relocation work, 
the branch was also able to achieve savings to Government in excess 
of $1.2 million.  
 
Related services also included the review of tenders, with an average 
of 18 tenders reviewed each month, to prepare them for approval by 
the Department’s Tenders Committee. Considerable advice and 
assistance was provided to staff on contract novations, variations and 
contract/policy interpretation matters, as well as developing policies to 
support tendering activities. The Department was also involved in 
developing new contracts/procurement solutions. 
 
 

Highlights of 2005-06 

 

• The Department delivered 
$163 million of building 
maintenance, minor works and 
property services to schools, 
health facilities, police stations 
and other government 
buildings in metropolitan and 
regional Western Australia. 

• In its inaugural year, the 
Department’s in-house project 
team worked on over 2 000 
work requests with a value in 
excess of $10 million. 

• The Western Property ‘One 
Call Centre’ achieved a client 
satisfaction level of 88 per cent 
in a recent survey. 
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Special Programs 
Some of the special programs delivered during the year include: 
 
• The Department of Education and Training’s four-year Fixing Our 

Schools program continued into its second year in 2005-06. The 
Statewide budget was $25.6 million. The metropolitan allocation 
was $11.1 million, and the country allocation $14.5 million. The 
work mainly covered painting and building repairs, roof repairs and 
replacement, carpet replacement and paving repairs.  

• The four-year federal-funded Investing in Our Schools program 
commenced. A total of $5.2 million of minor works projects are 
currently under way, with $2.1 million in country areas and 
$3.1 million in the metropolitan area. 

• The Department of Education and Training’s 100 Schools Project 
continued with the Department of Housing and Works coordinating 
the installation of data cabling and power supply upgrading to 
selected schools. The value of this work during 2005-06 was 
around $3 million, with 50 per cent of this spent in the country 
areas. 

• The four-year police station upgrade program continued, with the 
anticipated work volume for 2005-06 being around $1 million with 
$0.3 million of that in country areas and $0.7 million in the 
metropolitan area. 

• The four-year WA Police Service Occupational Safety and Health 
Upgrade Program for facilities also continued in 2005-06. Total 
Statewide expenditure on this program was $1.9 million, with 
$1.2 million going to metropolitan areas and $0.7 million to the 
country. 

 

Whole-of-Government Procurement Reform 
The Procurement Reform Agenda, part of the State Government’s 
Building Better Government strategy, has highlighted opportunities for 
growth and savings for building maintenance across government. The 
Department has the leadership role for building maintenance 
procurement reform strategies. In 2005-06, these strategies resulted in 
savings of more than $3.6 million.  
 
In 2006-07, procurement reforms in the metropolitan area (excluding 
the CBD) will be finalised. They will also be extended to country 
regions and to all government agencies including CBD premises. 
 
In 2006-07, the reforms are expected to achieve savings of $5.6 million 
from within the Department’s activities for other agencies and an 
additional $2.5 million from agencies that undertake building 
maintenance themselves. 
 

 

Bicton Primary School 
 
 
In May 2005, Bicton Primary 
School suffered extensive damage 
after being hit by a mini tornado 
with winds of up to 250 kmh. A 
number of school buildings were 
extensively damaged and some 
totally destroyed. The school had 
to be closed temporarily. 
 
Department of Housing and Works’ 
staff together with service arranger 
Infraserv immediately coordinated 
emergency cleanup and repair 
work to enable staff and students 
to return to a safe school site. 
 
Within a few weeks, the 
Department’s Building Relocation 
Team relocated four classrooms as 
a temporary replacement for the 
destroyed buildings. 
 
Rebuilding work is currently 
underway. To allow for these 
works to proceed, an existing 
transportable school hall was 
relocated within the site (photo 
below). 
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Overview 
The Department’s Building Industry Development Directorate provides 
policy advice to the Minister for Housing and Works, the Director 
General, and the Department on building and construction industry 
matters. The Directorate also: 
 

• provides a framework for effective building standards through 
the development of appropriate policy, legislation and 
regulation 

• provides policy, technical and administrative support to 
government and non-government committees and task groups 
such as the Building and Construction Advisory Council 

• engages communities and stakeholders via a range of 
consulting mechanisms. 

 
The aim of the Directorate is to develop a better and more sustainable 
built environment supported by efficient and effective industry. 
 
 
Major Initiatives in 2005-06 

 Intergovernment Agreement on Building Regulation Reform 
The Intergovernment Agreement (IGA) on Building Regulation Reform 
was endorsed by the Council of Australian Governments in February 
2006 and came into effect in April 2006. 
 
Under the provisions of the IGA, the Department of Housing and 
Works will work with other jurisdictions to revise the Building Code of 
Australia (BCA), in order to deal with performance standards and to 
reduce or eliminate inconsistencies with other standards. 
 
Overall, the IGA provides for some significant changes in the national 
framework for regulation of building standards and building control.  
This will allow Western Australia to maximise gains in efficiency and 
effectiveness in the delivery of building services and, in turn, generate 
a range of social and economic benefits for the wider community.   
 
 
 Cooperative Research Centre for Construction Innovation 

In line with the Government’s priorities in capital works delivery, a WA 
node of the Cooperative Research Centre for Construction Innovation 
(CRCCI) has been established between the Department and Curtin 
University. It involves the four agencies in the Centre of Expertise for 
Construction Contracting – the Department of Housing and Works, 
Department for Planning and Infrastructure, Main Roads and the Public 
Transport Authority – and Curtin University. 
 
The objective of the CRCCI is to create and commercially exploit tools, 
technologies and management systems to deliver innovative 
constructed assets to benefit the construction industry and the 
community. The ultimate aim of the centre is to ensure that the building 
and construction industry better uses its resources and raises its 
efficiency and effectiveness, so that the industry as a whole becomes 
more competitive. 
 
 

Highlights of 2005-06 

 

• The Commonwealth, State 
and Territory Governments 
ratified an Intergovernment 
Agreement on Building 
Regulation Reform. 

• The Department created 40 
new apprenticeship places in 
building and construction 
trades, in the first half of 2006, 
in response to the shortage of 
skilled workers in the Western 
Australian building and 
construction industry. 

• The new Architects Act 2004 
and Architects Regulations 
2005 came into operation on 
16 November 2005. The 
commencement of the new Act 
marks a significant milestone 
in the reform of architects’ 
regulation in this State. 

• The Department is working 
with the Department of 
Consumer and Employment 
Protection on a major review 
of building industry legislation.
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 Apprentice Initiative  
During late 2005, Cabinet approved a new initiative that has resulted in 
the Department offering 40 new apprenticeship places in building and 
construction trades in the first half of 2006.  
 
This initiative was developed as part of the Department’s contribution 
to the sustainability of the building and construction industry. Through 
this initiative, the Department is fulfilling its obligations to promote 
careers, support and manage apprentices to trade completion and 
reduce skills shortages in the building and construction industry. 
 
The initiative commenced as an industry training pilot project in the 
metropolitan area in February 2006. After six months of operation, the 
project has been very successful with positive feedback from host 
employers and training providers about the quality of apprentices. It is 
expected that the Department, in conjunction with a group training 
partner, will be recruiting between 10 and 20 apprentices each year to 
2009. Currently, the Department is investigating how the apprentice 
program can be expanded to regional WA. 
 
The first intake of apprentices included 10 carpenters, 10 electricians, 
8 plumbers/gasfitters, 9 glaziers and 3 refrigeration mechanics. These 
new recruits are mainly young people (under 21 years) and include 
one female and eight Indigenous youth. These apprentices are 
currently deployed with public works maintenance contractors. 
 
 
 Architects Act 

The new Architects Act 2004 and Architects Regulations 2005 came 
into operation on 16 November 2005. The new Act marks a significant 
milestone in the reform of architects’ regulation in this State. As well as 
satisfying National Competition Policy objectives and national 
harmonisation commitments, the new Act replaces the antiquated 
Architects Act 1921, delivering more appropriate legislation for today’s 
professionals. 
 
The primary objectives of the legislation are to ensure that only 
properly qualified and competent persons are identified as architects, 
and to regulate the practice of architecture by those persons. The 
legislation also seeks to establish and promote suitable professional 
standards amongst architects to help protect consumers. 
 
 
 Proposed Building Act 

The Department of Housing and Works is working with the Department 
of Consumer and Employment Protection on a major review of building 
industry legislation. The Department is reviewing the building 
regulatory framework, aiming to streamline regulations governing the 
building industry and bring Western Australia in line with national 
reforms. Western Australia is now the only jurisdiction that does not 
have a holistic building regulatory environment that ensures 
compliance with national building standards and maximum protection 
for the community. 
 

 
 
The Department offered 40 new 
apprenticeship places in the 
building and construction trades. 
 
The Apprentice Initiative is a way 
the Department can leverage its 
valuable maintenance contracts to 
stipulate that opportunities for 
apprentices are included. 
 
‘… this initiative is a way for the 
government to lead by example by 
ensuring that work done by our 
contractors on our sites includes 
provision for apprentices.’ 
 
Jane Vallance, Manager Industry 
Policy and Advice 
 
 
 

 
 
One of the new apprentices receives advice 
from a lecturer at Regional Training 
Services 
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The Department is in the process of developing a new Building Act to 
replace relevant parts of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1960 and the Building Regulations 1989.  
 
The ‘Discussion Draft - A New Building Act for Western Australia’ was 
released for public consultation on 8 November 2005, with the 
consultation formally closing on 30 June 2006. 
 
 
 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Bill 

2005 
The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Bill 
2005 was introduced in the Legislative Assembly on 10 October 2005. 
Most of the proposals contained in this Bill originate from the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Amendment Bill 2003, which 
provided for: 
 

• regulation of qualifications to be held by building surveyors 
(exercising delegated powers to approve building licences) 

• alignment of qualifications with a national accreditation 
framework 

• retrospective building approvals, through the issue of a 
Certificate of Substantial Compliance. 

 
The 2005 Bill had its second reading in the Legislative Council on 
3 May 2006. 
 
 
Outlook for 2006-07 
The Building Industry Directorate will focus on achieving the following 
outcomes: 

• informing Government and stakeholders on industry issues 
• delivering national and State reforms 
• promoting the construction of safer, more efficient and sustainable 

buildings 
• facilitating a more effective and efficient regulatory framework for 

the building and construction industry. 
 

 
The ‘Discussion Draft - A New 
Building Act for Western Australia’ 
was released for public consultation 
in November 2005.  
 
The proposed Building Act will 
provide: 
 
• an efficient system for 

prescribing design, construction 
and maintenance standards 

• a more effective system for 
handling building applications, 
registering building practitioners 
and certifying compliance with 
the relevant standards and 
codes. 

 
The Act will encourage flexibility 
and innovation in the building 
industry whilst providing acceptable 
standards of safety and amenity for 
the benefit of the community now 
and in the future. 
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The Department of Housing and Works had 271 staff at 30 June 2006. 
The following table indicates staff numbers: 

 
Employees 2004-05 2005-06 

Permanent   

 Full-time 177 195 

 Part-time 40 35 

Contract   

 Full-time 17 24 

 Part-time 4 14 

Casual 1 1 

Trainee 1 2 

Total Employees 240 271 
 
 
Equal Employment Opportunity 

 Training 
Continuing through 2005 and the first half of 2006 the internal training 
program has had a strong emphasis on equal opportunity issues. 
During 2005, 16 general awareness sessions were held – nine were 
held at Head Office for existing staff and seven were presented 
throughout the Regions for new and existing staff. Four of these 
formed Day Two of the Department’s Orientation Program for new 
employees. Contact Officer refresher training continues to be held on 
an annual basis, with another successful session held in September 
2005. 
 
In the first half of 2006, the Department renewed its commitment to 
ensuring that all staff participated in EEO training. Additional EEO 
sessions were held in the metropolitan area following implementation 
of the original program. In order to meet the high turnover of staff in 
Regional areas, a number of sessions are planned for country 
branches. 
 
 
 Accessing Abilities Strategy 

During the latter part of 2004, a project group was formed to identify 
possible strategies to encourage the recruitment of people with 
disabilities. Through the group, initial contact has been made with 
specialist agencies across the State with a view to enhancing 
communication and building more productive relationships. 
 
 
 Policies 

Amendments have been to the Department’s Recruitment and 
Selection Policy to include targeted recruitment strategies designed to 
improve the diversity of the Department’s workforce.  

Our People 
 
‘It is my intention to invest in your 
development so that you can 
achieve your full potential … I want 
us to make this [organisation] a 
place that you’re proud to be 
associated with, proud of its 
achievements and proud of the 
part you play in our business ... 
I want you to join with me in 
playing our part in building a better 
community.’ 
 
Bob Mitchell, Acting Director General 
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 Diversity Survey 
A survey was circulated to all employees during April 2006. The survey 
had a particular focus on disability issues and sought to gain ideas 
from staff for enhancing the workplace for the benefit of people with 
disabilities. The findings from the survey will be used to develop 
policies and programs relating to employment and service delivery. 
 
 
 Indigenous Employment 

The Department continued its commitment to Indigenous employment 
through its Indigenous Traineeship Program. This provides entry-level 
employment opportunities to 12 trainees, with further intakes planned. 
The trainees are trained on-the-job and work towards acquiring 
Certificate III in Business. 
 
The majority of trainees have been retained after completing their 
traineeships and have contributed greatly to the diversity and strength 
of the workforce. 
 
During 2005-06, the Department maintained its numbers of Indigenous 
staff employed at around eight per cent of its total workforce. 
 
 
Occupational Safety and Health  
The safety and health of employees continues to be a significant 
priority for the Department of Housing and Works. 
 
A major initiative was the assessment of the Department’s 
occupational safety and health function against the WorkSafe Plan to 
assist with strategic planning in the area. 
 
The Department also released a dedicated occupational safety and 
health intranet site, which provides employees with online access to 
information and policies. 
 
 
Workers Compensation and Injury Management 
A review of the Department’s workers compensation and injury 
management policies and procedures was completed during the year, 
to reflect amendments to the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981.  
 

Number of lost time injuries 6 

Frequency rate 

(number of lost time injuries per million 
hours worked) 

2.97 

Incident rate  

(number of lost time injuries per 100 
workers) 

0.47 

Note:  These figures include the State Housing Commission. 

 
No rehabilitation cases were carried over into 2005-06. Three new 
rehabilitation cases were established during the year. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Indigenous Traineeship 
Program provided entry-level 
employment opportunities for 12 
trainees. The majority were 
retained after completing their 
traineeships. 
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Industrial Relations 
There were no industrial matters during the year leading employees to 
stop work. 
 
 
Public Sector Standards  

With the introduction of the Public Sector (Breaches of Public Sector 
Standards) Regulations 2005, information on the revised procedures 
for dealing with Public Sector Standards Breach Claims was made 
available to all employees.   
 
 
Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct  
The Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Department’s own Code of 
Conduct have been made available to all employees via the 
Department’s intranet. Information is also provided on both items via 
the Department’s online induction system and at the Department’s 
induction course.  
 
A review of the Department’s Code of Conduct is underway. The 
revised version will be based on the principles of Building and 
Sustaining Integrity – A Strategic Approach (an initiative developed by 
the Public Sector Standards Commission) and is expected to be 
launched by July 2006.  The revised Code is again being developed on 
a consultative basis with relevant officers from various work areas 
providing their expertise and advice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The Department’s Code of 
Conduct is being revised to take 
into account the principles of 
‘Building and Sustaining Integrity’. 
This strategic approach aims to 
encourage all employees to 
consider what they can do, on a 
daily basis, to improve the ethical 
culture within the organisation. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR 
STANDARDS AND CODES 
In the administration of the Department of Housing and Works, I have 
complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and 
the Department of Housing and Works’ Code of Conduct. 
 
I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance 
and conducted appropriate internal checks to satisfy myself that the 
statement made above is correct. 
 
The applications made for breach of standards review and the 
corresponding outcomes for the reporting period are: 
 
 
• Number Lodged     1 
• Number of breaches found, including details of 

multiple breaches per application   0 
• Number still under review       0 
 
 
 
 

 
R J  MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 
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Overview 
The following section outlines the Department’s management and 
oversight framework, with details on: 
 
• The Executive 
• Internal Audit Function 
• Authorisations Framework 
• Risk Management 
• Corruption Prevention 
 
It also includes the following disclosures required under written law 
and/or government policies and guidelines: 
 
• Complaints Handling 
• Records Management 
• Freedom of Information 
• Pricing Policies 
• Sustainability 
• Waste Paper Recycling 
• Energy Smart Government Policy 
• Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest 
• Public Interest Disclosures 
• Advertising and Marketing 
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The Executive 
The Department operates under a governance structure in which authority and accountability are shared 
between the Director General and the various sections of the Department (portfolios). While the Director 
General is ultimately accountable for the full range of the Department’s powers and functions, the portfolios – 
through the relevant General Manager – have considerable autonomy in day-to-day decision-making, allocation 
of resources and determination of priorities within the portfolios. 
 
The organisational structure for the Department is shown below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATE HOUSING COMMISSION FUNCTIONS

Acting 
Director General 

Bob Mitchell 

Executive Director 
Building Industry 

Development 
Peter Gow 

General Manager 
Housing Development 

Services 
Bob Thomas 

General Manager 
Housing Management 

Services 
Bevan Beaver 

General Manager 
Works & Building 

Services 
John Coles 

 
General Manager 
Business Services 
Rochelle Bradley 

Aboriginal Housing 
Danny Ford 

 
General Manager 

Review and Reform
Kerry Fijac 

Acting Manager 
Communications and 

Marketing 
Jenelle Provost 

Executive Director 
Corporate 

Development Services 
Ross Napier 
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Internal Audit Function 
In accordance with the requirements of the Financial Administration 
and Audit Act 1985 (FAAA), the Management Review and Audit 
Branch (which incorporates internal audit services) operates as an 
independent appraisal activity. The branch provides management with 
a consulting activity to ensure that activities are carried out effectively 
and efficiently in accordance with sound business practices and all 
legal requirements. Ongoing assistance and advice is provided to 
management on appropriate risk management strategies and effective 
systems of control. 
 
The branch also has an extended role and scope to undertake 
management review processes as permitted under the FAAA. It also 
assists the Director General (Accountable Officer) with his corporate 
governance and statutory responsibilities. 
 
The Audit Manager also supports the Audit Committee. The Committee 
comprises four members possessing a suitable mix of skills, 
commercial knowledge and business experience, as well as cross-
agency experience in procurement and asset management. The 
Director General is the Chair of the Committee. 
 
A comprehensive Strategic Audit Plan, which addresses key business 
risks and focuses on reviewing the efficiency and effectiveness of 
operations of the organisation, is approved annually.  
 
During 2005-06, the branch significantly enhanced the organisation’s 
tendering and contract management processes and internal risk 
management processes. 
 
Authorisations Framework 
In December 2005, the Minister approved a framework specifying the 
positions authorised to approve and manage contracts. The 
authorisations framework covers those areas of the Department that 
operate under the authority of the Public Works Act 1902. 
 
Risk Management 
The Department has in place a number of arrangements to identify and 
manage risks. This includes the maintenance of a Risk Register, which 
is used to identify, analyse, evaluate and formulate treatment plans for 
all risks. 
 
Corruption Prevention 
Detection and prevention of fraud, corruption and misconduct form part 
of the Department’s business units risk management activities, with 
appropriate reporting procedures established. 
 
The Department has implemented a risk management policy, which 
incorporates strategies to minimise the risks of fraud, misconduct and 
corruption. These include policies and guidelines for: 

• information access 
• information security – access controls 
• fraud and corruption 
• staff induction 
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• gifts and benefits 
• segregation of duties in relation to payments and other internal 

controls. 
 
These – in conjunction with the audits of contractors, internal audit 
operations and the stringent controls on financial payments – have 
helped develop a culture of awareness relating to potential fraud, 
corruption and misconduct. 
 
Complaints Handling 
In August 2004, the Department of the Premier and Cabinet launched 
a whole-of-government complaints handling policy. This requires all 
government agencies to have a complaints management system in 
place that conforms to the Australian Standard on Complaints Handling 
(AS ISO 10002-2006). 
 
The Department has made considerable progress towards the 
development of a feedback and complaints handling policy and an 
electronic handling system. Significant parts of the consultation, design 
and development phases of implementation have been completed. The 
system is due to go ‘live’ in September 2006. 
 
The feedback and complaints handling system will deliver the following 
outcomes: 
 
• a clear process for handling feedback and complaints from staff 

and customers 
• a mechanism for reporting and monitoring feedback and 

complaints 
• continual improvement in service provision policy and processes 

throughout the Department. 
 

Records Management 

(Statement of Compliance with State Records Act 2000) 
The Department complies with the State Records Act 2000. The 
Department’s record management system was last evaluated in 
October 2003. 
 
In 2005-06, the Department commenced a pilot training program for 
electronic records and document management. The training outcome 
and program are currently being assessed and upon completion of the 
review will be rolled out to all staff members of the Department. 
 
Records Management was also reviewed in the area of security, which 
has resulted in a new security model being developed. It is anticipated 
that the implementation of the model will be completed by the next 
reporting year. 
 
The Department also plans to review its thesaurus (record naming 
conventions) and disposal authorities, both of which will commence in 
the new financial year.  
 
In the early part of this year, the Department purchased the online 
Recordkeeping Awareness Program, which is being prepared for 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Handling complaints … 
 
The Department has made 
considerable progress towards 
developing a feedback and 
complaints handling policy and 
electronic handling system. 
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rollout. This is an induction program for all staff and forms a part of the 
recordkeeping program. 
 
 
Freedom of Information 
The Department has met its obligations under the Freedom of 
Information Act 1992. An Information Statement is available on the 
Department’s website (www.dhw.wa.gov.au) or can be obtained from: 
 
Freedom of Information Unit 
Department of Housing and Works 
99 Plain Street 
East Perth WA  6004 
Ph: (08) 9222 4501 
Fax: (08) 9221 1388 
 
The Freedom of Information Coordinator is responsible for processing 
applications received under the Freedom of Information Act 1992. 
During the year, the Department, through the State Housing 
Commission, received 98 valid applications. Of these, 78 applicants 
sought access to personal information and 20 sought access to non-
personal information. 
 
A more comprehensive breakdown of the Department’s statistics is 
provided in the Information Commissioner of Western Australia’s 
annual report at www.foi.wa.gov.au. 
 
 
Pricing Policies 
The Department charges for goods and services rendered on a full or 
partial cost recovery basis. These include: 
 
• The Department’s Construction Services directorate provides 

services to government agencies in support of the planning and 
delivery of their non-residential building programs. A service 
charge is levied to achieve full cost recovery including direct costs 
of providing the services and the indirect departmental overheads. 
Asset planning advice and program management services are 
charged on a time charge for actual time spent. Charge rates 
reflect the total costs of personnel delivering the service. Project 
management services for individual projects are charged at a 
percentage of the cost of the project. The percentages are on a 
sliding scale inversely proportional to the value of the project and 
adjusted for locality and project complexity. The total charges 
represent approximately 2 per cent of the value of the works 
program managed. 

• The Department charges fees for managing maintenance and 
minor works on behalf of agencies to enable it to recover its costs. 
The fee scale varies and is dependent on locality of the project, 
project type and value. 

• The Fremantle Prison offers a range of tours to the public. Tour 
prices are reviewed annually, with price increases maintained 
around the Consumer Price Index. 
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Sustainability 
In line with the State Sustainability Strategy, the Department of 
Housing and Works and the State Housing Commission collectively 
have 22 actions to implement. These actions are documented in full on 
the website www.sustainability.dpc.wa.gov.au. 
 
The following are highlights for 2005-06 of those actions specifically 
relating to the Department. 
 
 Sustainability Assessment 

• The Department is working with the Department for Planning and 
Infrastructure to adapt the Building Sustainability Index for use in 
regulating the energy and water consumption of new houses in 
Western Australia. 

• The Department is working with the Sustainable Energy 
Development Office as part of a national, inter-jurisdictional 
steering committee to commercialise the National Australian 
Building Environmental Rating System (NABERS). The committee 
is led by the NSW Department of Energy, Utilities and 
Sustainability. The NABERS tools will be able to assess the 
environmental performance of existing houses and offices.   

• The design for the new health facility in Denmark is to embrace 
Environmentally Sustainable Design (ESD) principles. This will 
establish a new benchmark for responsible ESD in health buildings 
through the use of the Green Guide for Health Care (USA) and 
initiatives established with Green Building Council of Australia. A 
Sustainable Design Plan has been developed that identifies ESD 
issues and tracks their presence within a project. Life Cycle Cost 
Analysis data will be compiled to assist in the selection of ESD 
initiatives. 

• Sustainability criteria have been incorporated into the Request for 
Proposal for the development of the site at 140 William Street. The 
site will have to demonstrate best practice development according 
to the principles of sustainability. This will include a commitment 
that the office component meets the requirements for a 5-star 
rating under the Green Building Council of Australia’s Green Star 
Office tool, representing Australian best practice in sustainable 
design. 

 
 
 Office Accommodation Policies 

The Department has begun implementing the Office Accommodation 
Policy released in August 2004. All agencies have been made aware 
that from 1 July 2006, existing government tenants are required to 
assess their energy performance and bring their tenancy to a minimum 
4-star Australian Building Greenhouse Rating (AGBR) performance 
level. Many have already assessed their tenancies, and modified 
buildings, equipment, and staff behaviour to meet the required star 
rating. 
 
 ESD review of four new middle schools 

In conjunction with the Department of Education and Training and the 
Sustainable Energy Development Office, the Department conducted a 
review of the ESD features of four new middle schools. 

 
The Department is making a 
contribution towards sustainability 
with … 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
… a Building Sustainability Index 
 
 
 
 
… the National Australian Building 
Environmental Rating System 
 
 
 
 
… a new health facility in Denmark 
that will embrace Environmentally 
Sustainable Design principles 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
… achieving best practice in 
sustainability design with the 
development of 140 William Street.
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The ABGR process was used as framework for the analysis. The 
report will be used to assess the benefit and impact of the ESD 
principles incorporated into the school designs. The principles will be 
developed for inclusion in a generic middle school brief currently being 
prepared by the Department of Housing and Works and the 
Department of Education and Training. 
 
 Energy and water monitoring of schools 

In 2003-04, Harmony Primary School in Atwell was constructed with 
the aim of producing WA’s first ‘green’ school, incorporating features 
such as passive solar design, natural daylighting and ventilation, and 
grey water recycling.   
 
The water and energy consumption of Harmony Primary School is 
being monitored, along with the consumption levels of four other 
primary schools. The results will be analysed to determine the 
effectiveness of the ESD measures employed at Harmony to see 
whether they should be included in all new school designs. 
 
 Strategic Asset Management Framework 

The Strategic Asset Management Framework was approved in 2005 
and is to apply to all government agencies. The framework requires 
agencies to develop a business case for any capital works project 
costing more than $1 million, as well as a social impact assessment 
that considers the environmental and sustainability impacts of the 
project. In partnership with the Department of Treasury and Finance, 
the Department will assess these business cases, which will allow it to 
play a more prominent role in influencing and guiding the delivery and 
maintenance of government building assets 
 
 Pier St, Northbridge 

The Pier Street housing projects in Northbridge will showcase state-of-
the-art ESD principles, and social sustainability, and are expected to 
help revitalise the Perth’s inner city area. Design strategies include the 
use of natural daylighting and ventilation, photovoltaic panels, solar hot 
water, rainwater collection and grey water recycling, and water efficient 
landscaping. The design for the two sites, containing 158 units, is 
currently being documented, and construction is expected to begin in 
2007. 
 
 Perth Arena 

The Government Architect is investigating the possibility of integrating 
photovoltaic panels into the roof or external glazing of the new Perth 
Arena project. These will support the energy requirements of the 
building and generate electricity to be fed back into the grid. Its location 
and visibility mean the installation of a photovoltaic array will make the 
Perth Arena an ideal demonstration project for the incorporation of 
solar technology into public buildings.   
 
 Sustainability Action Plan 

In accordance with the Sustainability Code of Practice, the State 
Housing Commission and the Department of Housing and Works have 
collectively formulated a Sustainability Action Plan. This will be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Harmony Primary School in 
Atwell was constructed with the 
aim of being WA’s first ‘green’ 
school, incorporating features 
such as passive solar design, 
natural daylighting and 
ventilation, and grey water 
recycling. 
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implemented over three years from 1 January 2005 – 31 December 
2007. The full plan can be downloaded from 
www.sustainability.dpc.wa.gov.au . Highlights of actions progressed in 
2005-06 are listed below: 
 
• Waste – A waste auditor was appointed to assess waste 

management in five metropolitan offices, and formulate 
recommendations on waste minimisation, management, and 
recycling to all our offices. The recommendations from the report 
are currently being considered for implementation.  

• Energy – The Department’s Commercial Property Branch 
monitors and reports on energy consumption against the 
government benchmarks established by the Energy Smart 
Government Program. After making a number of modifications to 
its office buildings – including upgrades to lifts, air conditioning, 
and lighting – the Department further reduced its energy 
consumption. 

• Water – The Department has located and repaired some water 
leaks and is trialling waterless urinals to reduce water consumption 
at head office at 99 Plain Street, East Perth. Major government 
buildings including Dumas House and 151 Royal Street in East 
Perth are in the process of being retrofitted with water-saving 
features such as dual-flush toilets. 

• Vehicles and Travel – Under the Department’s motor vehicle 
allocation policy, all new metropolitan Government vehicles will be 
four-cylinder cars. The Department has also committed to develop 
and implement a Green Transport Plan for its head office to 
reduce unnecessary solo car journeys and promoting travel 
alternatives such as cycling, walking, public transport, car-pooling, 
and telecommuting. Staff travel habits have been surveyed, and 
the Department’s TravelSmart Committee is currently working with 
officers from the Department of Environment to develop a Green 
Transport Plan. 

 
Wastepaper Recycling 
The Department uses Paper Recycling Industries for wastepaper 
removal. The common use arrangement is for the removal of office 
wastepaper and cardboard for recycling with the contractor able to 
collect all grades of paper and cardboard. The collection and 
destruction of confidential material is not included in this contract 
because there is generally a cost involved. 
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Energy Smart Government Policy 
In 2005-06, the Department achieved a 16.7 per cent reduction in non-
transport related energy, compared with 2001-02 (baseline year). The 
Energy Smart Government Policy requires agencies to achieve a 12 
per cent reduction in energy consumption by 2006-07. 
 

Energy Smart Government Policy Baseline 2005-06 Variation 

Energy Consumption (MJ) 47 915 000 39 948 000 (7 967 000) 

Energy Cost ($) $1 612 380 $1 211 213 (401 167) 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Tonnes of CO2) 11 233 8 655 (2 578) 

Performance Indicators – Tenant Light and Power    

MJ/m2 289 323 34 

MJ/FTE 7 384 8 267 883 
 
 
Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest 
Senior officers of the Department do not have an interest in any 
existing or proposed contracts made with the Department. 
 
 
Public Interest Disclosure – Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 
The Director General has been appointed a Public Interest Disclosure 
Officer and internal procedures are available to employees via the 
Department’s intranet. In addition, staff induction procedures include 
information on the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 to raise the 
awareness among new staff. 
 
During 2005-2006 no disclosures occurred under the Act. 
 
 
Advertising and Marketing 
In accordance with the disclosures required section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, the Department has incurred the following 
expenditure on advertising and market research organisations: 
 

Advertising and Market Research Value ($) 

Advertising Agencies 

Bowtell Clarke & Yole 

Printforce 

 

144 228 

2 622 

Market Research Organisations NIL 

Polling Organisations NIL 

Direct Mail Organisations NIL 

Media Advertising Organisations 

Marketforce 

Media Decisions 

 

684 134 

277 421 

TOTAL $1 108 405 
 
 



AUDITOR GENERAL’S OPINION A  N  N  U  A  L         R  E  P  O  R  T

 2 0 0 5   -   0 6
 

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS      37  
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The performance indicators in this report are produced in order to 
evaluate the Department of Housing and Works’ performance in 
achieving its outcome. The key effectiveness indicators provide 
information on the extent to which the outcome has been achieved 
through the production of agreed outputs. The efficiency indicators 
relate services to the level of resource inputs required to produce 
them.  The outcome and performance indicators were established in 
the 2003-2004 financial year. 
 
OUTCOME: GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS AND ACCOMMODATION 

DELIVERED, MANAGED AND MAINTAINED AT 
AGREED STANDARDS. 

 
Goal two of the Strategic Planning Framework for the Western 
Australian Public Sector is to develop a strong economy that delivers 
more jobs, more opportunities and greater wealth to Western 
Australians by creating the conditions required for investment and 
growth. The delivery, management and maintenance of the built 
environment provide impetus in the construction and property 
maintenance industries. This in turn creates sustainable communities, 
strong metropolitan and regional development for the benefit of all 
Western Australians. 
 
The Department contributes to this goal by delivering, managing and 
maintaining non-residential buildings across Western Australia on 
behalf of the Minister for Works. A wide range of services is provided 
to facilitate the State Government's capital works and maintenance 
programs. These services include: 
 
• A coordinated and specialist approach to the planning and 

management of the State Government’s non-residential capital 
works and office accommodation requirements. 

• Responsibility for managing the Government’s exposure to 
building and construction related risk and performing all 
commercial interface roles in architecture and building where 
appropriate. 

• Maintenance of appropriate contracting and building standards for 
the delivery of the State Government’s non-residential capital 
works program. 

• Establishment and maintenance of appropriate office and building 
standards for the State Government’s accommodation needs. 

 
The Department participates in partnerships with private sector service 
providers. Capital works and non-residential projects are designed by 
private sector architects and constructed by commercial builders under 
contract to and managed by the Department. 
 
 
Determination of Customer Satisfaction 
Customer satisfaction surveys are based on the use of a 7-point Likert 
scale. The response rating is based on the proportion of respondents 
surveyed that were satisfied. Respondents were asked to provide a 
rating of the Department’s services ranging from very satisfied to very 
dissatisfied. All not applicable or don’t know responses were excluded 
from the satisfaction rating. 

Certification of 
Performance Indicators 
 
 
I hereby certify that the 
performance indicators are based 
on proper records, are relevant 
and appropriate for assisting users 
to assess the performance of the 
Department of Housing and Works, 
and fairly represent the 
performance of Department of 
Housing and Works for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2006.
 
 
 
 

 
R J  MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 
ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER 
 
25 August 2006 
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A satisfied respondent for a particular question is defined as a person providing a response in the range of, very 
satisfied to slightly satisfied inclusive. The number of responses to a question falling in this range, divided by the 
total number of valid responses to the question, is taken as a percentage and reported as the client satisfaction 
rating. 
 
The following key performance indicator measures the effectiveness of the Department in achieving the above 
outcome. 
 
EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 
 
The extent to which the Department of Housing and Works has delivered, managed and maintained 
government buildings and accommodation to agreed standards. 
 
Through ongoing partnerships, the Department is working closely with its key client agencies to deliver 
improvements in the delivery of its services to the satisfaction of the client. 
 
For the past four years, the Department has undertaken independent research among executive-level officers at 
client agencies. The research monitors the changes in attitudes and perceptions of executive-level officers 
towards the Department. The agreed standards are benchmarks defined as per the requirements of the 
Department of Treasury and Finance and client agencies. The surveys have been conducted by an 
independent research agency. 
 
Survey statistics are derived from 100 per cent response rate of a sample size of 35 (80 per cent of population) 
with 9, in number, of not applicable or don’t know responses received. The maximum sampling accuracy at 95 
per cent confidence level of ±0 per cent ensured that the results were representative and stable. 
 

Actual 2003-04 Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Target 2005-06 

75% 65% 66% 75% 
 
The Department set a high satisfaction target of 75 per cent. While the 2005-06 actual result of 66 per cent is 
higher than the 2004-05 actual, the construction boom in the State has affected the satisfaction result. The 
unprecedented level of building industry activity has resulted in materials and labour shortages, causing some 
contract delays and cost growth, which has impacted on the delivery of agency building projects. 
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EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 
 
Delivery, management and maintenance of Government buildings, projects and office accommodation 
 
The management services provided by the Department are for the delivery of public buildings, infrastructure 
assets, Government's office accommodation portfolio, projects and the on-going management of Government 
properties. Policy development and advice to Government with regard to its building and construction activities 
are included. 
 
The Department measures its efficiency in delivering these to its client agencies at the lowest cost through the 
following indicators. 
 
Efficiency Indicators 
 
1.1 Project Delivery: Cost per million dollars of value of capital works projects delivered. 
 
The cost for project delivery includes the total costs allocated to this service, including all overheads. The total 
cost is taken as a proportion of the value, in millions of dollars, of works delivered by the Department. 
 
The efficiency measure is a key factor in evaluating the cost of the service provided to client (government) 
agencies in relation to the value of works projects managed. 
 
The value of works billed (invoiced) recovers the expenditure on consultant and builder contracts for capital and 
other non-residential building works. 
 

Actual 2003-04 Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Target 2005-06 

$26 306 $26 840 $25 392 $26 880 
 
 
 
1.2 Property Management: Cost per million dollars of gross rentals of buildings and office 

accommodation managed. 
 
The cost for property management includes the total costs allocated to this service, including all overheads. The 
total cost is taken as a proportion of the gross rental payments, in millions of dollars, of buildings and 
accommodation managed.  
 
Within the cost for property management, the Department also provides management service for precincts, 
properties or contiguous sites where several agencies may have an interest or presence. Precincts may be 
places where ownership is unclear or transitional. 
 
The efficiency measure is a key factor in determining the input required to provide this service to assist 
agencies and Government. 
 

Actual 2003-04 Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Target 2005-06 

$240 354 $285 586 $221 677 $270 367 
 
The decrease in cost per million dollars from 2004-05 to 2005-06 is due to a greater gross rental value of leases 
being administered without significantly increasing administration expenses. 
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1.3 Maintenance: Cost per million dollars of value of minor works and maintenance services 

delivered. 
 
The cost for maintenance includes the total costs allocated to this service, including all overheads. The total 
cost is taken as a proportion of the value, in millions of dollars, of minor works and maintenance delivered by 
the Department. 
 
Included in the total costs are those associated with a call centre; contract development and management for 
minor works, breakdown repairs and maintenance jobs. 
 

Actual 2003-04 Actual 2004-05 Actual 2005-06 Target 2005-06 

$104 821 $100 301 $99 360 $111 760 
 
Actual expenditure is below budget due to significant savings in the regions in satellite leasing costs, savings in 
total employee expenses in the regions and metropolitan area and below expected expenditure for external 
consultancy services for the procurement reform. 
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Certification of Financial Statements 
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Housing 
and Works have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of 
the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts 
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2006 and the financial position as at 30 June 
2006. 
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which 
would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 

 
R J  MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 
ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER 
 
 
 
 

 
J LOW 
ACTING CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
 
25 August 2006 

 

 



 Note  
2006 2005

 $000 $000
   

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Supplies and services 6 525,758 502,264
Employee benefits expenses 7 18,164 14,117
Capital user charge 8 14,658 12,828
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 4,512 3,416
Accommodation expenses 10 1,040 924
Finance costs 11 -                 947
Other expenses 12 395 974

Total cost of services 564,527 535,470
 

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 13 534,508 517,310
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 375 89
Other revenue 15 4,471 25
Total revenue 539,354 517,424

Total income other than income from State Government 539,354 517,424

NET COST OF SERVICES 25,173 18,046
 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 16
Service appropriation 34,711 30,826
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 803 718
Resources received free of charge 384 534

 

Total income from State Government 35,898 32,078

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 10,725 14,032

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 44



Note
2006 2005

 $000 $000
  

ASSETS
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 28 49,887 33,296
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17 2,125 9,949
Receivables 18 36,852 44,466
Inventories 20 36,165 17,121
Amounts receivable for services 19 -                                  25
Total Current Assets 125,029 104,857 
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17 51 -              
Amounts receivable for services 19 13,895 10,472
Property, plant and equipment 21, 32 269,893 171,939
Intangible assets 22, 32 161 322
Total Non-Current Assets 284,000 182,733
 
TOTAL ASSETS 409,029 287,590
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 24 17,841 16,506
Provisions 25 3,137 2,476
Other payables 26 72,422 43,723
Total Current Liabilities 93,400 62,705 
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 25 1,387 1,482
Lease incentive 21,665 20,189
Total Non-Current Liabilities 23,052 21,671
TOTAL LIABILITIES 116,452 84,376 
NET ASSETS 292,577 203,214
 
EQUITY 27

Contributed equity 40,410 18,564
Reserves 83,466 26,674
Accumulated surplus 168,701 157,976 
TOTAL EQUITY 292,577 203,214

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 409,029 287,590

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 45



Note
2006 2005

 $000 $000

Balance of equity at start of period 37 203,214 187,472

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 27
Balance at start of period 18,564 17,457
Capital contribution 4,176 500
Other contributions by owners 25,060 810
Distributions to owners (7,390) (203)
Balance at end of period 40,410 18,564

RESERVES 27
Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at start of period 26,674 27,697
Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation 56,792 (1,023)
Balance at end of period 83,466 26,674

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
(RETAINED EARNINGS) 27
Balance at start of period 157,976 142,318
Net adjustment on transition to AIFRS 37 -                1,626
Restated balance at start of period 157,976 143,944
Surplus for the period 10,725 14,032

Balance at end of period 168,701 157,976

Balance of equity at end of period 292,577 203,214

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 46



Note
2006 2005

 $000 $000
   

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 31,288 27,403
Capital contributions 4,176 500
Holding account drawdowns 25 25
Receipts from Treasurer's Advance 35,000 29,000
Payments to Treasurer's Advance (35,000) (36,000)
Net cash provided by State Government 35,489 20,928 
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (16,565) (13,491)
Supplies and services (543,539) (500,121)
Finance costs -              (1,140)
Capital user charge (14,658) (12,828)
Accommodation (1,040) (924)
GST payments on purchases (53,202) (49,420)
GST payments to the taxation authority (4,844) (6,622)
Other payments (909) (657) 
Receipts
User charges and fees 553,775 523,449
Commonwealth grants and contributions 375 89
GST receipts on sales 56,652 54,400
GST receipts from the taxation authority 3,197 1,496
Other receipts 1,888 13,597
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 28 (18,870) 7,828 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets (7,852) (2,562)
Net cash used in investing activities (7,852) (2,562)

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings -              (4,079)
Net cash used in financing activities -              (4,079) 
Net increase in cash held 8,767 22,115

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 43,245 13,031

Cash assets transferred from other sources -              8,099
 

28 52,012 43,245
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
PERIOD

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 47



2006 2006 2006 2005
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 107 net amount appropriated to deliver services 30,599 34,711 4,112 34,711 30,826 3,885
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 30,599 34,711 4,112 34,711 30,826 3,885

CAPITAL
Item 164 capital contribution 5,100 4,176 (924) 4,176 500 3,676

ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS 

50,000 -              (50,000) -                    4,407 (4,407)
Total administered transactions 50,000 -              (50,000) -                    4,407 (4,407)

GRAND TOTAL 85,699 38,887 (46,812) 38,887 35,733 3,154

Details of Expenses by Service 

53,907 564,527 510,620 564,527 535,470 29,057
Total cost of services 53,907 564,527 510,620 564,527 535,470 29,057
Less total income (23,318) (539,354) 516,036 (539,354) (517,424) (21,930)
Net cost of services 30,589 25,173 (5,416) 25,173 18,046 7,127
Adjustments (a) 10 9,538 9,528 9,538 12,780 (3,242)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 30,599 34,711 4,112 34,711 30,826 3,885

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 5,100 7,852 2,752 7,852 2,562 5,290
Adjustments for other funding sources -              (3,676) (3,676) (3,676) (2,062) (1,614)
Capital contribution (appropriation) 5,100 4,176 (924) 4,176 500 3,676

DETAILS OF INCOME ESTIMATES 
Revenues disclosed as Administered Income 507,400 14,141 (493,259) 14,141 14,014 127

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FUND APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

Note 34 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2006 and 
between the actual results for 2005 and 2006.

Item 108 administered grants, subsidies and other 
transfer payments

(a) Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and 
superannuation.

Delivery, management and maintenance of 
Government buildings, projects, and office 
accommodation
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1. Departmental mission and funding 

The Department's mission is to respond to the hopes of all Western Australians for 
their housing and construction needs. 
 
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. Revenues 
controlled by the Department are net appropriated under the Financial Administration 
and Audit (Net Appropriations) Determination, which causes all revenue controlled by 
the Department to be subject to net appropriation in the 2005/2006 financial year. 
The financial statements encompass all funds through which the Department controls 
resources to carry on its functions. 
 
 
2. First time adoption of Australian equivalents to International 

Financial Reporting Standards 

This is the Department’s first published financial statements prepared under 
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  
 
Accounting Standard AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards’ has been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. Until 30 June 2005, the financial statements have been 
prepared under the previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(AGAAP). 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) adopted the Standards of the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) for application to reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2005 by issuing AIFRS which comprise a Framework 
for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, Accounting Standards 
and the Urgent Issue Group (UIG) Interpretations.  
 
In accordance with the option provided by AASB 1 paragraph 36A and exercised by 
Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements’, financial instrument information prepared under AASB 132 
and AASB 139 will apply from 1 July 2005 and consequently comparative information 
for financial instruments is presented on the previous AGAAP basis. All other 
comparative information is prepared under the AIFRS basis. 
 
 
Early adoption of standards 
 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’.  This TI requires the early 
adoption of revised AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ as issued in December 2004, 
AASB 2004-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ and 2005-3 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 119]’; AASB 2005-4 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard [AASB 139, AAASB 132, AASB 1, 
AASB 103 and AASB 1038]’ and AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards [AASB 3]’ to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 
2005.  AASB 2005-4 amends AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ so that the ability to designate financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value is restricted.  AASB 2005-6 excludes business combinations involving 
common control from the scope of AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’. 
 
Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 and 
30 June 2005 are provided at note 37. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General Statement 

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and working. 
 
The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are 
legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. 
 
Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon 
the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

 

(b) Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AAS 29 “Financial Reporting by Government Departments” on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation 
of land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.  
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000). 
 
The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’. 

 
(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Housing and Works. 
 
The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of 
Government which are not controlled by, nor integral to the function of the 
Department. These administered balances and transactions are not recognised in the 
principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared on 
similar bases to the financial statements and are presented at notes 35 and 36. 
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(d) Contributed Equity 

UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be 
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, 
or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by 
owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by 
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.  See note 27 
‘Equity’. 

 

(e) Income 

Revenue 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser. 
 
Rendering of services 
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the 
stage of completion. 
 
Service Appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the 
Department gains control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Department’s bank 
account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and 
Finance. See note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ for further detail. 

 
 Net Appropriation Determination 

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed revenues to be 
retained for services under the control of the Department. In accordance with the 
determination specified in the 2005-2006 Budget Statements, the Department 
retained $616 million in 2006 ($593 million in 2005) from the following: 
 

 Provision of contract services; 
 Executive vehicle scheme; 
 GST input credits; 
 GST receipts on sales; 
 Rental income sufficient to cover outgoings paid for government owned 

buildings; and 
 Other departmental revenue. 

 
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the 
assets comprising the contributions which is usually when cash is received. 
 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are 
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a 
fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not 
donated. 
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Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were 
obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over 
a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the reporting date, 
the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are 
disclosed in the notes. 

Gains 
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. 
These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets. 

 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment costing over $1,000 are recognised as assets 
and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  
Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $1,000 are immediately 
expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than where they form part of a group 
of similar items which are significant in total). 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 
 
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal 
consideration, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
After recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model for the 
measurement of land and buildings; and the cost model for all other property, plant 
and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference to recent 
market transactions.  When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market 
transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 
 
Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are 
specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is 
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Where the fair 
value of buildings is dependent on using the depreciated replacement cost, the gross 
carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.  
 
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing 
whether to apply the existing use basis to assets. Professional judgment by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between 
market type assets and existing use assets. 
 
Refer to note 21 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on 
revaluations. 
 
Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits. 
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Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight 
line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each 
class of depreciable asset are: 
 
Buildings 10 to 40 years 
Heritage assets 100 years 
Plant and equipment 10 years 
Computer hardware  3 years 
Air conditioning 10 years 
Office furniture and fittings  10 years 
Office machines and equipment  5 years 
  
 
(g) Intangible Assets 

Significant costs associated with the acquisition or development of computer software 
are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal 
consideration, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment annually when the 
asset is not yet in use, or more frequently when an indicator of impairment arises 
during the reporting year indicating that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of 
the expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight-line basis using rates 
which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have 
a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are: 
 
Computer software  5 years 
  
 
Computer Software 
Acquired software items costing less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of 
acquisition. Where software is an integral part of the related hardware, it is treated as 
property, plant and equipment. Where the software is not an integral part of the 
related hardware, it is treated as an intangible asset. 

 

(h) Impairment of Assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at each reporting date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the 
recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Department is a 
not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost. 
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The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated or where the replacement cost is falling. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of that class 
of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs. 
 
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset.  Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market evidence.  Where 
fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets 
are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at 
cost are tested for indications of impairment at each reporting date. 
 
See note 3(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 23 ‘Impairment of Assets’. 

 

(i) Leases 

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for the 
rental of properties and motor vehicles where the lessor effectively retains all of the 
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items held under the operating 
leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the Income 
Statement over the lease term as this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be 
derived from the leased property. 

 

(j) Financial Instruments 

The Department has two categories of financial instrument: 
• Loans and receivables (cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and 
• Non-trading financial liabilities (payables and Treasurer’s Advance) 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement 
is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.  

 

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes 
restricted cash and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and 
short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 
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(l) Accrued Salaries 

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer note 17) consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet 
the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days instead of the 
normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 
 

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not 
coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a few 
days of the financial year-end. The Department considers the carrying amount of 
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value. 

 

(m) Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account) 

The Department receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises 
the full annual cash and non-cash cost of services. The appropriations are paid partly 
in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is accessible on the 
emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave 
entitlements and asset replacement. 

 
See also note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 19 ’Amounts receivable 
for services’. 

 

(n) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with 
the majority being valued on average cost basis. 

Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, 
in which case they are valued at net realisable value. 

See note 20 ‘Inventories’. 

 

(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any provision 
for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 14 
days. See note 3(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 18 ‘Receivables’. 

 

(p) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Department becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. See note 
3(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 24 ‘Payables’. 

 

(q) Amounts Due to the Treasurer 

The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance.  Initial 
recognition and measurement, and subsequent measurement is at the amount 
repayable. Although there is no interest charged the amount repayable is equivalent 
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to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 12 months with the effect 
of discounting not being material.  

(r) Provisions 
 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where 
there is a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and when the outflow of economic benefits is probable and can be measured 
reliably.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet reporting date. See 
note 25 ‘Provisions’. 

 
(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits 

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting date is recognised and 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be 
settled more than 12 months after the end of the reporting date is 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. 
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components 
such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long 
service leave liability also considers the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. 
 
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting date. 

 
Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the 
following superannuation schemes. 
 
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension 
scheme now closed to new members or the Gold State Superannuation 
Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new 
members. The Department has no liabilities for superannuation charges under 
the Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability has been assumed by the 
Treasurer.  
 
Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes 
become non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS), an accumulation fund. The Department makes concurrent contributions 
to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These 
contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of 
the WSS Scheme. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS 
Schemes, and is recouped by the Treasurer for the employer’s share. 
 
See also note 3(s) ‘Superannuation expense’. 
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(ii) Provisions - Other  
Employment On-Costs  
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses 
when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs 
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the 
Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs provision’. See note 12 ‘Other Expenses’ and note 25 
‘Provisions’. 
 
Restoration Costs 
A provision is recognised where the Department has a legal, equitable or 
constructive obligation to undertake restoration work. 
 
A site rehabilitation account has been established to provide for costs of 
rehabilitating the Mt Walton disposal site after the final intractable waste 
operation takes place in the future. This provision will be added to each time a 
disposal operation occurs, ensuring the site will be appropriately restored.  

 

(s) Superannuation Expense 

The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the 
Income Statement: 
 
(a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current 

service cost and, actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in 
respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and 
current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme; and 

 
(b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the West State 

Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the equivalent of employer contributions 
to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS). 

 
Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements 
(i.e. current service cost and, actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of 
the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are recognised as expenses 
directly in the Income Statement. As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer, a 
revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the expense is 
recognised under Income from State Government in the Income Statement. See 
note 16 ‘Income from State Government’. 
 
Defined contribution plans - in order to reflect the Department’s true cost of services, 
the Department is funded for the equivalent of employer contributions in respect of 
the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer benefits). These contributions were paid to the 
GESB during the year and placed in a trust account administered by the GESB on 
behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB subsequently paid these employer contributions 
in respect of the GSS Scheme to the Consolidated Fund. 

 

(t) Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Consideration 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured 
are recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value. 
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(u) Construction Work in Progress 

Construction work in progress is stated at the aggregate of contract costs incurred to 
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses and progress billings.  If there are 
contracts where progress billings exceed the aggregate costs incurred plus profits 
less losses, the net amounts are presented under other payables.  

Contract costs include all costs directly related to specific contracts, costs that are 
specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the contract and an 
allocation of overhead expenses incurred in connection with the Department’s 
construction activities in general. 

 

(v) Lease Incentives 

In instances where the lessor has provided incentives for the Department to enter 
into an operating lease, the Department has recognised the aggregate benefit of 
incentives as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term, on a straight line 
basis.  Examples of lease incentives include up-front cash payments or the 
reimbursement or assumption by the lessor of costs of the lease such as leasehold 
improvements.   

 

(w) Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures have been restated on the AIFRS basis except for financial 
instruments information, which has been prepared under the previous AGAAP 
Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33 ‘Presentation and Disclosure of Financial 
Instruments’.  The transition date to AIFRS for financial instruments is 1 July 2005 in 
accordance with the exemption allowed under AASB 1, paragraph 36A and 
Treasurer’s Instruction 1101.  

 

4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

An environmental analysis is being obtained to provide a quantifiable estimate of the 
amount required to rehabilitate the Mt Walton intractable waste disposal site. 
 
Other key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date do not have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 
 
 
5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 
 
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 
 
Adjustments have been made to prior period to comply with AIFRS. See note 37 
‘Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS’. 
 
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’.  As referred to in Note 2, TI 1101 
has only mandated the early adoption of revised AASB 119, AASB 2004-3, AASB 
2005-3, AASB 2005-4 and AASB 2005-6.  Consequently, the Department has not 
applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations that 
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have been issued but are not yet effective.  These will be applied from their 
application dates: 
 
 
 

1. AASB 7 ‘ Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential 
amendments in AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, 
AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 and AASB 1038]’).  This 
Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial instruments.  
The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2007.  The Standard is considered to 
result in increased disclosures of an entity’s risks, enhanced disclosure 
about components of financial position and performance, and changes to 
the way of presenting financial statements, but otherwise there is no 
financial impact. 

 
2. AASB 2005-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 

4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 and AASB 132]’ (Financial guarantee 
contracts).  The amendment deals with the treatment of financial 
guarantee contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit 
derivative default contracts as either an “insurance contract” under AASB 
4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ or as a “financial guarantee contract” under 
AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.  The 
Department does not undertake these types of transactions resulting in 
no financial impact when the Standard is first applied.  The Standard is 
required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2006. 

 
3. UIG Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a 

Lease’. This Interpretation deals with arrangements that comprise a 
transaction or a series of linked transactions that may not involve a legal 
form of a lease but by their nature are deemed to be leases for the 
purposes of applying AASB 117 ‘Leases’.  At reporting date, the 
Department has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the 
Interpretation resulting in no impact when the Interpretation is first 
applied.  The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. 

 
 
The following amendments are not applicable to the Department as they will have no 
impact: 
 
AASB Amendment Affected Standards 
2005-1 AASB 139 (Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast 

intragroup transactions) 
 

2005-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1 
& AASB 139]’ 

 
2006-1 AASB 121 (Net investment in foreign operations) 

 
UIG 5  ‘Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, 

Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds’ 
 
UIG 6  ‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific market – 

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment’ 
 
UIG 7  ‘Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’ 



  2006 2005
 $000 $000

6 Supplies and services
 
Managed contracts 514,723 484,820
Consultants and contractors 4,550 4,414
Maintenance and repairs 4,984 9,682
Government accommodation 186 1,940
Motor vehicles 606 506
Consumables 295 215
Communications 101 138
Other 313 549

525,758 502,264

 
7 Employee benefits expenses

Wages and salaries 13,656 10,850
Superannuation - defined contribution plans 1,460 1,234
Superannuation - defined benefit plans 803 718
Long service leave 819 161
Annual leave 1,426 1,154

18,164 14,117
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

8 Capital user charge 14,658 12,828

   DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS    
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An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 16
'Income from State Government')

Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State
(Contributions paid)

Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State
(pre-transfer benefit)

Includes a superannuation contribution component

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are
included at note 12 'Other expenses'. The employment on-costs liability
is included at note 25 'Provisions'.

The Government applies a levy for the use of its capital for the delivery
of services. It is applied at 8% per annum on the net assets of the
Department, excluding exempt assets, and is paid to the Department of
Treasury and Finance quarterly.

(d)

(d)

(a)

(b) (c)
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 $000 $000
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9 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings 2,890 2,686
Office machines and equipment 24 27
Air conditioning -                245
Computer hardware -                93
Plant and equipment 5 14
Leasehold Improvements 1,432 190
Total depreciation 4,351 3,255

Amortisation
Intangible assets 161 161
Total depreciation and amortisation 4,512 3,416

10 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals 1,040 924

11 Finance Costs
Finance lease finance charges -                947

-                947

(a)

12 Other expenses

Employment on-costs 855 627
Doubtful Debts Expense (488) 347
Cost of Goods Sold 28 -                  

395 974

(a)

13 User charges and fees
 
Fees for managed building works 17,212 19,891
Managed building works (a) 413,293 397,208
Miscellaneous services 3,865 2,526
Rents for Government office accommodation 100,138 97,685

534,508 517,310

This represents the interest expense for the repayment of the loan
for 151 Royal Street leased from the Government Employees
Superannuation Board. Final payment for this loan was made in
June 2005.

Includes workers compensation insurance and other employment
on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of
annual and long service liability is included at note 25 'Provisions'.
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for
leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment
on-costs.

(a)

(a)
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(a) Construction contract revenue
User charges and fees includes $338,254,000 
(2005: $275,698,000) from construction contracts

14 Commonwealth grants and contributions 375 89

15 Other revenue
Executive vehicle scheme 26 25
Reversal of impairment charge 4,445 -                  

4,471 25

16 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations 34,711 30,826

- Superannuation 803 718

Total Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 803 718

Resources received free of charge
Department of Justice 91 331
Department of Education and Training 6 -                  
Department of Land Information 287 203

384 534
35,898 32,078

(a)

(b)

The following liabilities have been assumed 
by the Treasurer during the financial year:

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by 
agencies:

Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services
delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a
receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is a notional income
to match the notional superannuation expense reported in respect of current
employees who are members of the pension scheme and current employees who
have a transfer benefit entitlement under the Gold State Superannuation scheme
(The notional superannuation expense is disclosed at note 7 'Employee Benefits
Expense').

(a)

(b)

(c)
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(c)

17 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
Fitout contribution 2,125 9,949
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account 51 -                  

2,176 9,949

(a)

(b)

18 Receivables
 
Receivables 19,996 35,876
Allowance for doubtful debts -                (488)
Prepayments 7,965 6
Accrued revenues 7,247 8,020
Property managers trust 1,644 1,052

36,852 44,466

(a)

19 Amounts receivable for services

Current -                25
Non-current 13,895 10,472

13,895 10,497

Amount held in suspense account is only to be used for the
purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs
every 11 years.

This is the amount held in trust by the Department's corporate
property manager that manages the rental services for the
Department.

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations {see
note 3(m) 'Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)}'. It is
restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment
of leave liability.

Building owners contribution received to fund fitout works for re-
location of government agencies.

Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for
nominal consideration, the Department recognises revenues
(except where the contributions of assets or services are in the
nature of contributions by owners in which case the Department
shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair
value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can
be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if
not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or
expenses, as applicable.

(a)

(b)

(a)
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20 Inventories

Inventories held for resale 77 -                  

Construction work in progress
Contract costs incurred and recognised
profits less recognised losses 537,330 426,003
Progress billing (501,242) (408,882)

36,165 17,121

Construction contracts

21 Property, plant and equipment

Land
Land at fair value (a) 120,492 47,070

Building
Buildings at fair value (a) 130,634 120,282
Accumulated depreciation (2,890) (2,461)

 127,744 117,821

Total properties (including land and buildings) 248,236 164,891

Office furniture and fittings at cost -                1
Accumulated depreciation -                (1)
 -                -                   
Office machines and equipment at cost 140 140
Accumulated depreciation (118) (94)

22 46

Air conditioning at cost -                2,726
Accumulated depreciation -                (492)

-                2,234

Computer hardware at cost -                346
Accumulated depreciation -                (346)

-                -                  

Plant and equipment at cost 1,313 248
Accumulated depreciation (30) (25)

1,283 223

Building improvements in progress at cost 4,447 2,752
4,447 2,752

Total retentions outstanding in relation to construction                 
contracts in progress amount to $301,000 in 2005.
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Leasehold improvements 17,527 1,983
Accumulated depreciation (1,622) (190)

15,905 1,793

269,893 171,939

(a)

22 Intangible assets

Computer software at cost 804 804
Accumulated amortisation (643) (482)

161 322

23 Impairment of assets

24 Payables

GST payable to the Australian Taxation Office 2,194 1,358
Accrued expenses 15,599 14,707
Contractors retention -                401
Other 48 40

17,841 16,506

25 Provisions

Current
Annual leave 1,749 1,598
Long service leave (a) 1,359 854
Employment on-costs (b) 29 24

3,137 2,476

Non-current
Long service leave (a) 1,087 1,183
Employment on-costs (b) 10 9
Restoration costs (c) 290 290

1,387 1,482

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2005 by the
Department of Land Information (Valuation Services). The
valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2005
and recognised at 30 June 2006.

There were no indications of impairment of property, plant & equipment
and intangible assets as at 30 June 2006.
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(a)

Within 12 months of reporting date 1,371 601
More than 12 months after reporting date 1,097 1,436

2,468 2,037

(b)

(c)

Movements in Provisions

Restoration costs provision
Carrying amount at start of year 290 -                  
Additional provisions recognised -                290

Carrying amount at the end of year 290 290

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 33 33
Additional provisions recognised 83 46
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (77) (46)

Carrying amount at the end of year 39 33

Provision for litigation
Carrying amount at start of year -                60
Additional provisions recognised -                -                  
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits -                (60)
Carrying amount at the end of year -                -                  

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other
than employee benefits, are set out below.

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives
rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers
compensation premiums. The provision is the present value of
expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the
unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is included at note 12
'Other expenses'.

The Department acquired an intractable waste facility at Mt Walton
in April 2005. The facility was transferred from the Department of
Environment to resolve their conflict of interest. The Department
has a legal obligation to restore the site.

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where
there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12
months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual
settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:
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26 Other Payables

Invoices raised for services to be completed next financial year 10,514 9,033

Prepayments for construction work in progress
Progress billing 564,169 1,806,191
Contract costs incurred and recognised
profits less recognised losses (502,261) (1,771,501)

72,422 43,723

27 Equity

Contributed equity
Balance at start of the year 18,564 17,457

Contributions by owners
Capital contributions 4,176 500
Transfer of net assets from other agencies -                810
Assets reclassified from Administered to Controlled 25,060 -                  

29,236 1,310
Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
  Transfers to Department of Planning and Infrastructure (7,390) (203)

(7,390) (203)

Balance at end of the year 40,410 18,564

(a)

(b)

(c)

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the
Department. The Government holds the equity interest in the
Department on behalf of the community. The assets revaluation
reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation
of non-current assets.

Capital contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-
reciprocal) transfers of net assets from other State Government
agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in
Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 and are credited directly to equity in
the Balance Sheet.

Assets transferred from the Department of Environment for the Mt
Walton intractable waste disposal facility and Western Australian
Building Management Authority (WABMA) net assets originally
taken up as a result of Machinery of Government reform.

Being transfer of vacant land and government properties from
Administered to Controlled.

(a)

(b)

(d)

(c)
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(d)

Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve  
Balance at start of the year 26,674 27,697
Revaluations during the year 56,792 (1,023)
Balance at end of the year 83,466 26,674

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (retained earnings)
Balance at start of the year 157,976 142,318
Result for the period 10,725 14,032
AIFRS adjustment (see note 37) -                1,626
Closing balance 168,701 157,976

28 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related 
items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 49,887 33,296
Restricted cash and cash equvalents (refer to note 17) 2,125 9,949

52,012 43,245
 

Net cost of services (25,173) (18,046)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4,199 3,226
Doubtful debts expense (488) 347
Superannuation expense 803 718
Resources received free of charge 384 534

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables 12,810 (2,031)
Other current assets (43,982) (7,267)

UIG 1038 requires that the transferee accounts for a transfer as a
contribution by owner, the transferor must account for the transfer
as a distribution to owners. Consequently, non-discretionary (non-
reciprocal) transfers of net assets to other State Government
agencies are distribution to owners and are debited directly to
equity.

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows 
(used in)/provided by operating activities
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Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (8,218) (210)
Other payables 3,549 26,984
Provisions 565 (23)
Other current liabilities 35,845 3,455
Change in GST Liability 836 141

(18,870) 7,828

29 Commitments for expenditure

Lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases 5,774 4,377

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are 
payable as follows:

Within 1 year 1,291 1,018
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,242 2,647
Payable later than five years 241 712

 5,774 4,377

30 Supplementary financial information

Write-Offs

31 Remuneration of Auditor

128 85
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators

Remuneration of the Auditor General for the financial 
year is as follows:

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities

During the financial year, $252 (2005: $3,000) was written off             
under the authority of the Accountable Officer.
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32 Reconciliation of non-current assets

Land and 
Buildings

Building 
Improvements 

in Progress

Office 
Machines 

and Equip.
Air 

Conditioning
Computer 
Hardware

Intangible 
Assets

Plant & 
Equip.

Leasehold 
Improvements Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of year 164,891 2,752 46 2,234 -                 322 223 1,793 172,261
Transfers (a) 30,285 (1,263) -                  (2,234) -                 -                1,065 -                      27,853
Additions 2,104 2,958 -                  -                   -                 - -              15,544 20,606
Disposals (2,690) - -                  -                   - - -              -                      (2,690)
Revaluation increments 56,536 - -                  -                   - - -              - 56,536
Depreciation/Amortisation (2,890) - (24) -                   -                 (161) (5) (1,432) (4,512)
Carrying amount at end of year 248,236 4,447 22 -                   -                 161 1,283 15,905 270,054

(a) Includes the transfers of vacant land and government properties from Administered to Controlled

2005/06

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out below.

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2006 
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Credit Risk

Liquidity Risk

The cash assets, receivables and payables are non-interest bearing.

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Cash flow interest rate risk

(b) Financial Instrument disclosures

Interest Rate Risk Exposure

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, finance leases,
Treasurer's Advances, receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial
risks. The Department's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified
below.

Financial instrument information for the year ended 2005 has been prepared under the previous
AGAAP Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33 'Presentation and disclosure of Financial Instruments'.
Financial instrument information from 1 July 2005 has been prepared under AASB 132 'Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation' and AASB 13 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement'. See also note 3(w) 'Comparative figures'.

The Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its
commitments.

The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings other than the Treasurer's Advance (non-
interest bearing).

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

Financial Instruments
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  2006 2005
Actual Actual Variation

  $000 $000 $000
34 Explanatory statement

(a) Significant variations between actual and prior year actual

TOTAL APPROPRIATION TO DELIVER SERVICES
Net amount appropriated to deliver services 34,711 30,826 3,885

CAPITAL
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 4,176 500 3,676

ADMINISTERED
-               4,407 (4,407)

Details of Expenses by Service

564,527 535,470 29,057

Total revenues from ordinary activities (539,354) (517,424) (21,930)

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates
and actual results for 2005 and 2006 as presented in the financial statement
titled 'Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Income Estimates'.

The increase in appropriation is largely for new project-specific funding
$3.300m, increases in Capital User Charge $1.827m and other various
movements ($1.247m).

The increased funding of $3.676m in 2005/06 represents the capital
contributions for the upgrade of the Dumas House and Royal Street
government owned buildings and the constructions of the Multi-purpose
Indoor Entertainment and Sports Stadium project. This increase has been
offset by a reduction due to the completion of funding for the Old Treasury
Building roof repairs project.

The increase is largely due to an increase in client turnover activity for
managed contracts on behalf of other government departments.

The decrease in Administered activity between the 2005 actual and the
2006 actual is largely due to finalisation and reduction in appropriation
funding for Melville Land Sales (Heathcote Development) of $2.407m and
decreased appropriation funding for the grant paid to the Government
Employees Housing Authority of $2.0m for the provision of air conditioners
in housing for Government employees in the Pilbara region.

Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies and Other Transfer 
Payments

The increase is largely due to an increase in client turnover activity for
managed contracts on behalf of other government departments.

Delivery, management and maintenance of Government buildings, projects
and office accommodation

Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or
$1,000,000.
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2006 2006

Estimates Actual Variation
$000 $000 $000

(b) Significant variations between estimate and actual 

 

TOTAL APPROPRIATION TO DELIVER SERVICES
Net amount appropriated to deliver services for the year 30,599 34,711 4,112

$000
Capital User Charge 812
Old Treasury Buildings - Design 
development and internal demolition

3,300

4,112

CAPITAL
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 5,100 4,176 (924)

ADMINISTERED

50,000 -               (50,000)

In the 2005/06 Budget appropriations, funding of $50m was provided for the
Multi-purpose Indoor Entertainment and Sports Stadium (MIESS) project.
The original MIESS proposal was for the incentive of $50m to be paid up
front to the developer. This proposal has now been replaced.

The decreased funding of $0.924m in 2005/2006 represents the decrease
capital funding for the refurbishment programs for Dumas House in West
Perth and 151 Royal Street in East Perth. This reduction has been offset by
new capital funding for the construction of the Multi-purpose Indoor
Entertainment and Sports stadium project.

Details and reasons for significant variations between estimates and actual
results are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those
greater than 10% of the estimate and $1,000,000.

Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies and Other Transfer
Payments

Various adjustments have been agreed to the appropriation to deliver
services by way of supplementary funding for:
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2006 2006
Estimates Actual Variation

$000 $000 $000
(b) Significant variations between estimate and actual - continued 

Details of Expenses by Service
Total Cost of Services 53,907 564,527 510,620

Total revenues from ordinary activities (23,318) (539,354) (516,036)

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 5,100 7,852 2,752

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES
Revenues disclosed as Administered Revenues 507,400 14,141 (493,259)

The variance is largely due to the capitalisation of Commercial Property
office building improvements costs and the Fremantle Prison Tunnels costs.

The managed contracts previously reported as administered transactions
have now been re-classified as controlled. This has resulted in revenue and
expenditure comparisons showing large variations between the actual and
estimated results.

The managed contracts previously reported as administered transactions
have now been re-classified as controlled. This has resulted in revenue and
expenditure comparisons showing large variations between the actual and
estimated results.

The managed contracts previously reported as administered transactions
have now been re-classified as controlled. This has resulted in revenue and
expenditure comparisons showing large variations between the actual and
estimated results.
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2006 2005
$000 $000

35 Administered expenses and income
Expenses

Grants expense for capital purposes -               2,000
Depreciation -               152
Managed contracts expenses 47 2,458
Net decrease in asset revaluation -               (1,228)
Payments to government 14,141 9,607

Total administered expenses 14,188 12,989
 
Income

Rent 14,141 9,607
Administered grants -               4,407

Total administered revenues 14,141 14,014

36 Administered assets and liabilities
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents assets 722 1,188
Total administered current assets 722 1,188
 
Non-current assets

Properties at fair value -               25,061
Construction work in progress -               782
Right to receive (a) 51,300 51,300

Total administered non-current assets 51,300 77,143
Total administered assets 52,022 78,331

 
Total administered net assets 52,022 78,331

(a) The asset recognised is the State Government's right to
receive the Perth Convention and Exhibition Centre in 35
years from when construction was completed in 2003-04. This
value has been determined by depreciating the construction
costs at 2% per annum from completion date over 35 years,
being the term of the lease.

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006
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AGAAP AIFRS
1 July 2004 Adjustments 1 July 2004

Departmental 
Advances

Re-class 
Prepayments

Re-class 
Provisions

AASB 107 AASB 101 AASB 101
37.1a 37.2a 37.3a

Note  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
  

Current Assets   
(1) Cash and cash equivalents 13,026 5 -                     -                13,031
(1) Restricted cash and cash equivalents 408 -                      -                      -                408

Receivables 5,122 (5) 1 -                5,118
(2) Amounts receivable for services 25 -                      -                      -                25
(3) Other current assets 1 -                      (1) -                -                    

Total Current Assets 18,582 -                      -                      -                18,582 
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 7,074 -                      -                      -                7,074
Property, plant and equipment 171,855 -                      -                      -                171,855
Intangible assets 482 -                      -                      -                482
Total Non-Current Assets 179,411 -                      -                      -                179,411
TOTAL ASSETS 197,993 -                    -                     -                197,993
 
Current Liabilities

Payables 2,327 -                      -                      -                2,327
Other borrowings 4,079 -                      -                      -                4,079
Provisions 2,231 -                      -                      188 2,419
Other payables 484 -                      -                      -                484
Total Current Liabilities 9,121 -                      -                      188 9,309 
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 1,400 -                      -                      (188) 1,212
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,400 -                      -                      (188) 1,212

TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,521 -                      -                      -                10,521
 
NET ASSETS 187,472 -                      -                      -                187,472 
EQUITY

Contributed equity 17,457 -                      -                      -                17,457
Reserves 27,697 -                      -                      -                27,697
Accumulated surplus 142,318 -                      -                      -                142,318
TOTAL EQUITY 187,472 -                      -                      -                187,472

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 197,993 -                    -                     -                197,993

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Cash assets' (AIFRS 'Cash and cash equivalents' )
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Amounts receivable for outputs' (AIFRS 'Amounts receivable for services' )
(3) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Other assets' (AIFRS 'Other current assets' )

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

37 Reconciliations explaining the transition to
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS)

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION TO AIFRS: 1 JULY 2004 (AASB 1.39(a)(i))
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AGAAP AIFRS
30 June 2005 30 June 2005

Departmental 
Advances

Re-class 
Prepayments

Re-class 
Provisions

Construction 
Contracts

Operating 
Leases - 

Incentives Error
AASB 107 AASB 101 AASB 101 AASB 111 UIG 115 AASB 108

37.1b 37.2b 37.3b 37.5a 37.6a 37.7a
Note  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

  
Current Assets   

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 33,291 5 -                    -                -                  -                -                33,296
(1) Restricted cash and cash equivalents 9,949 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                9,949

Receivables 41,609 (5) 6 -                -                  2,856 44,466
Inventories -                     -                    -                    -                7,806 5,637 3,678 17,121

(2) Amounts receivable for services 25 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                25
(3) Other current assets 6 -                    (6) -                -                  -                -                -                    

Total Current Assets 84,880 -                    -                    -                7,806 8,493 3,678 104,857
 
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 10,472 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                10,472
Property, plant and equipment 170,146 -                    -                    -                -                  1,793 -                171,939
Intangible assets 322 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                322
Total Non-Current Assets 180,940 -                    -                    -                -                  1,793 -                182,733
TOTAL ASSETS 265,820 -                    -                    -                7,806 10,286 3,678 287,590
 
Current Liabilities

Payables 16,506 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                16,506
Provisions 2,223 -                    -                    253 -                  -                -                2,476
Other payables 45,866 -                    -                    -                7,806 (9,949) -                43,723
Total Current Liabilities 64,595 -                    -                    253 7,806 (9,949) -                62,705 
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 1,735 -                    -                    (253) -                  -                -                1,482
Lease incentives -                     -                    -                    -                -                  20,189 -                20,189
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,735 -                    -                    (253) -                  20,189 -                21,671
TOTAL LIABILITIES 66,330 -                    -                    -                7,806 10,240 -                84,376
 
NET ASSETS 199,490 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                203,214
 
EQUITY

Contributed equity 18,564 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                18,564
Reserves 26,674 -                    -                    -                -                  -                -                26,674
Accumulated surplus 154,252 -                    -                    -                -                  46 3,678 157,976
TOTAL EQUITY 199,490 -                    -                    -                -                  46 3,678 203,214

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 265,820 -                    -                    -                7,806 10,286 3,678 287,590

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Cash assets' (AIFRS 'Cash and cash equivalents' )
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Amounts receivable for outputs' (AIFRS 'Amounts receivable for services' )
(3) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Other assets' (AIFRS 'Other current assets' )

Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIRFS)

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE END OF THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER PREVIOUS AGAAP: 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(a)(ii)) 

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

37 Reconciliations explaining the transition to 

The transition to AIFRS includes adjustments for the transition AIFRS as at 1July 2004 plus 
adjustments for the period 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005.

Adjustments

77



AGAAP AIFRS
30 June 2005 30 June 2005

Employee 
Benefits

Change to 
Accounting 

Policy

Operating 
Leases - 

Incentives Error
AASB 119 AASB 108 UIG 115 AASB 108

37.3c 37.4a 37.6b 37.7b
Note  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

   
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities
(1) Employee benefits expense 14,744 (627) -                  -                -                 14,117
(2) Finance costs 947 -                  -                  -                -                 947

Supplies and services 501,207 -                  1,057 -                 502,264
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3,226 -                  -                  190 -                 3,416
Accommodation expenses 924 -                  -                  -                -                 924
Capital user charge 12,828 -                  -                  -                -                 12,828

(3) Other expenses 347 627 -                  -                -                 974
Total cost of services 534,223 -                  -                  1,247 -                 535,470

 
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 512,339 -                  1,293 3,678 517,310
Commonwealth grants and contributions 89 -                  -                  -                -                 89

(4) Other revenue 1,651 -                  (1,626) -                -                 25
-                 

Total revenue 514,079 -                  (1,626) 1,293 3,678 517,424

514,079 -                  (1,626) 1,293 3,678 517,424

NET COST OF SERVICES 20,144 -                  1,626 (46) (3,678) 18,046
 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 30,826 -                  -                  -                -                 30,826
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 718 -                  -                  -                -                 718
Resources received free of charge 534 -                  -                  -                -                 534

 
Total income from State Government 32,078 -                -                -               -                 32,078

(5) SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 11,934 -                  (1,626) 46 3,678 14,032

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Employee expenses' (AIFRS 'Employee benefits expense')
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Borrowing costs expense' (AIFRS 'Finance costs')
(3) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Other expenses from ordinary activities' (AIFRS 'Other expenses')
(4) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Other revenues from ordinary activities' (AIFRS 'Other revenue')
(5) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Change in net assets' (AIFRS 'Surplus/(deficit)')

Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement from AGAAP to AIFRS for Year Ended 30 June 2005
The impact of the transition to AIFRS on the Cashflow Statement is immaterial.

DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND WORKS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

37 Reconciliations explaining the transition to

    Adjustments

Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIRFS)

RECONCILIATION OF INCOME STATEMENT (PROFIT OR LOSS)                                                              
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(b))

Total income other than income from 
State Government
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Notes for the reconciliations to Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 
 

Note 37.1 (AASB 107) Departmental Advances 

AASB 107 requires all cash and cash equivalents to be reported together. A cash 
float is held to fund departmental advances. This is now required to be disclosed as 
part of the cash and cash equivalents item. 
 

37.1a Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

The Department has re-classified $5,000 from Receivables to Cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 
37.1b Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

The Department has re-classified $5,000 from Receivables to Cash and cash 
equivalents. 

 

 Note 37.2 (AASB 101) Prepayments 

AASB 101 summarises prepayments and other receivables under the heading of 
Receivables. This was previously reported under Other assets. 
 

37.2a Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

The Department has transferred $1,000 from Other current assets to 
Receivables. 
 
37.2b Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

The Department has transferred $6,000 from Other current assets to 
Receivables. 

 

 Note 37.3 (AASB 101) Employee benefits 

AASB 101 requires that a liability must be classified as current where the entity does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months beyond the reporting date. Consequently, all annual leave and long service 
leave entitlements (unconditional long service leave) must now be classified as 
current. Non-vested long service leave liability will be non-current to the extent that it 
does not become unconditional within 12 months of the reporting date. 
 
Employment on-costs are not included in employee benefits under AGAAP or AIFRS. 
However, under AGAAP employee benefits and on-costs are disclosed together on 
the face of the Income Statement as Employee costs. Under AIFRS employee 
benefits will be the equivalent item disclosed on the face. On-costs are transferred to 
Other expenses. 
 

37.3a Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

All unconditional long service leave previously reported as non-current liability 
has been reclassified to current liability ($188,000). 
 
37.3b Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

All unconditional long service leave previously reported as non-current liability 
has been reclassified to current liability ($253,000). 
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37.3c Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 
30 June 2005 

Employment on-costs expense has been reclassified from Employee benefits 
expense to Other expenses ($627,000). 

 

 Note 37.4 (AASB 108) Accounting Policy 

AASB 108 requires retrospective changes to accounting policy to be adjusted directly 
against equity. Under AGAAP retrospective adjustments were brought to account in 
the current Income Statement as an adjustment to the current period. 
 
The Department has reclassified its managed contracts previously classified as 
administered to controlled. This has resulted in the adjustment to prior accounting 
periods being reported in the current period under AGAAP. The adjustment is posted 
to Equity under AIFRS. 
 

37.4a Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 
30 June 2005 

The Department has transferred the revenue transfer from Other revenue to 
Equity ($1,626,000). 

 

 Note 37.5 (AASB 111) Construction Contracts 

AASB 111 requires gross amount due from customers for contract work to be 
presented as an asset and gross amount due to customers for contract work to be 
presented as a liability. 
  

37.5a Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet  

The Department has reclassified $7,806,000 from Other payables into 
Inventories. This represents the gross amount due from customers for contract 
work performed. 

 

Note 37.6 (UIG 115) Operating Leases - Incentives 

UIG 115 requires all lease incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed 
operating lease to be recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed 
for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the 
timing of payments.  Thus, the Department has recognised the aggregate benefit of 
incentives as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term, on a straight-line 
basis. 
  

37.6a Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

The following adjustments have been made: 
 

(i) An amount of $2,856,000 recognised as Receivables being lease 
prepayments to lessors and receivables from lessees. 

 
(ii) An amount of $1,793,000 recognised as leasehold improvements in 

Property, plant and equipment provided for as lease incentives. 
 

(iii) An amount of $5,637,000 recognised as Inventories being gross 
amount due from customer for leasehold improvements. 

 
(iv) An amount of $9,949,000 reclassified from Other payables to Lease 

incentives. 
 

(v) An amount of $20,189,000 recognised as Lease incentives. 
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37.6b Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 

30 June 2005 

The following adjustments have been made: 

(i) $1,057,000 of expenditure in Supplies and services being rental and 
leasehold improvement adjustments for lease incentives. 

(ii) $190,000 recognised in Depreciation and amortisation expense being 
depreciation of leasehold improvements provided for as lease 
incentives. 

(iii) User charges and fees increased by $1,293,000 being rental and 
leasehold improvements provided for as lease incentives. 

 

 Note 37.7 (AASB 108) Error 

AASB 108 states that a prior period error is to be corrected by retrospective 
restatement.   

 
37.7a Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

An amount of $3,678,000 recognised in Inventories being underbilling of 
construction works in progress. 

 
37.7b Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 

30 June 2005 

An amount of $3,678,000 recognised in User charges and fees being revenue 
arising from underbilling of construction works in progress. 
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Perth 
 

North Metropolitan 

Head Office 
99 Plain Street & 169 Hay Street 
East Perth WA  6004 
Ph: (08) 9222 4666 
Toll Free: 1800 093 325 
Fax: 9221 1388 
 

Mirrabooka 
6 Ilkeston Place WA  6061 
Ph:(08) 9344 0555 
Fax: 9344 0527  
 

City Office and Bond Assistance 
605 Wellington Street 
Perth WA  6000 
Ph:(08) 9476 2444 
Fax: 9476 2472 
 

Midland 
21 Great Northern Highway 
Midland WA  6056 
Ph: (08) 9250 9191 
Fax: 9274 3519  
 

Fremantle Prison 
The Terrace 
Fremantle WA  6160 
Ph: (08) 9336 9200 
Fax: 9430 7188 
 

 

South Metropolitan South East Metropolitan 
 

Fremantle 
42 Queen Street 
Fremantle 6160 
Ph: (08) 9430 0300 
Fax: 9430 0323 

Cannington 
17 Manning Road 
Cannington WA 6107 
Ph: (08) 9356 0444 
Fax: 9356 0424  
 

Kwinana 
Shop 7, Hub Commercial Centre 
40 Meares Avenue 
Kwinana WA  6167 
Ph: (08) 9439 0300 
Fax: 9439 0313 
 

Armadale 
Unit 1, 42 Commerce Avenue 
Armadale WA  6112 
Ph: (08) 9497 1600 
Fax: 9497 1727 

Mandurah 
11 Pinjarra Rd 
Mandurah WA  6210 
Ph: (08) 9535 5788 
Fax: 9535 7156  
 

Bentley 
Unit 28, 32 Dumond St 
Bentley WA  6102 
Ph: (08) 9458 2001 
Fax: 9350 6825  
 

South West 
 

Southern 

Bunbury 
22 Forrest Avenue 
Bunbury WA  6230 
Ph: (08) 9792 2111 
Fax: 9721 3169 
 

Albany  
131 Aberdeen Street 
Albany WA  6330  
Ph: (08) 9842 0444 
Fax: 9842 0497 

Busselton 
Suite 4, 8-10 Prince Street 
Busselton WA  6280 
Ph: (08) 9752 4388 
Fax: 9752 2140 
 

Katanning 
30 Richardson Street 
Katanning WA  6317 
Ph: (08) 9821 1822 
Fax: 9821 2673 

Manjimup 
Unit 10, 30-32 Rose Street 
Manjimup WA  6258 
Ph: (08) 9771 1200 
Fax: 9771 1254 
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Wheatbelt 
 

Central 
 

Northam 
297 Fitzgerald Street 
Northam WA  6401 
Ph: (08) 9622 1500 
Fax: 9622 3643 
 

Kalgoorlie 
1st floor 
220 Hannan Street 
Kalgoorlie WA  6430 
Ph: (08) 9093 5200 
Fax: 9093 5215 
 

Merredin 
44 Mitchell Street 
Merredin WA  6415  
Ph: (08) 9041 1744  
Fax: 9041 2055 
 

Esperance 
Balmoral Square 
The Esplanade 
Esperance WA  6450 
Ph: (08) 9071 2046 
Fax: 9071 3107 

Narrogin 
11-13 Park Street 
Narrogin WA  6312 
Ph: (08) 9881 1299 
Fax: 9881 2082 
 

 

Midwest/Gascoyne 
 

Pilbara 
 

Geraldton 
201 Marine Terrace 
Geraldton WA  6530 
Ph: (08) 9923 4444 
Fax: 9923 4499 
 

South Hedland 
Cnr Brand and Tonkin Streets 
South Hedland WA  6722 
Ph: (08) 9172 0800 
Fax: 9172 0888 
 

Carnarvon  
30 Robinson Street 
Carnarvon WA  6701 
Ph: (08) 9941 1129 
Fax: 9941 2419  
 

Karratha 
3-5 Welcome Road 
Karratha WA  6714 
Ph: (08) 9144 1707 
Toll Free: 1800 631 472 
Fax: 9144 1636 
 

Meekatharra 
Main Street 
Meekatharra WA  6642 
Ph: (08) 9981 1115 
Fax: 9981 1128 
 

 

Kimberley 
 

 

Broome 
Frederick Street 
Broome WA  6725 
Ph: (08) 9192 0100 
Fax: 9192 1896 
 

Kununurra 
Cnr Messmate Way and Konkerberry Drive 
Kununurra WA  6743 
Ph: (08) 9168 1588 
Toll Free: 1800 646 960 
Fax: 9168 2169 
 

Derby 
Lot 265 Loch Street 
Derby WA  6728 
Ph: (08) 9191 1411 
Fax: 9191 1219 
 

 

Halls Creek 
Ph: (08) 9168 6126 
Fax: 9168 6139 
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To the Hon Michelle Roberts MLA 
Minister for Housing and Works 
 
In accordance with section 66 of the 
Financial Administration and Audit Act 
1985, I hereby submit, for your 
information and presentation to 
Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Western Australian Building 
Management Authority for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2006. 
 
The Annual Report has been prepared 
in accordance with the provisions of 
the Financial Administration and Audit 
Act 1985. 
 
 
 
 

 
R J  MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 
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The Western Australian Building Management Authority is established 
under the Public Works Act 1902 as a body corporate. The Authority is 
responsible for servicing borrowings dating from the Capital Works 
Program of 1984-85 and the borrowings for construction of the Peel 
Health Campus in 1996. 
 
The Authority holds the residual borrowings from the amalgamation of 
the former Ministry of Housing and the Department of Contract and 
Management Services. Statutory requirements related to staffing and 
compliance with statutory reporting requirements as well as the Public 
Sector Standards and Codes have been integrated into the 
Department of Housing and Works’ annual report. 
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Outcome:  Western Australian Building Management Authority 
borrowings are serviced in accordance with the 
Western Australian Treasury Corporation’s repayment 
schedule. 

 
The Western Australian Building Management Authority (WABMA) is a 
body corporate established under the Public Works Act 1902. WABMA 
is responsible for servicing borrowings dating from the 1984-85 Capital 
Works Program and the 1996 borrowings for construction of the Peel 
Health Campus. 
 
The previous output measures of the WABMA were transferred to the 
Department of Housing and Works on 1 July 2002, as the Department 
was responsible for the procurement of the government’s building 
works from 2002-03. 
 
The Peel Health Campus loan repayment, that is a cost to WABMA, 
has a revenue payment from the Department of Health to balance the 
cost. The loan repayment has no effect on the cost of producing DHW 
services and therefore an efficiency indicator relating total cost per unit 
of output is not provided. 
 
Similarly, the costs of servicing borrowings made during the period 
1984 to 1987, to fund the State capital works building program are 
excluded. These costs were covered by a direct appropriation from 
Treasury. 
 
The balance of loans provided by the Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation as at 30 June 2006 was $125.2 million, reducing from 
$134.9 million in 2004-05. 
 
 
Efficiency and Effectiveness Indicator 
 
The percentage of loan repayments made by the scheduled 
payment date specified in the Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation’s loan repayment schedule. 
 
This indicator provides information on how WABMA is managing its 
borrowings by providing data on the timeliness in which the Authority 
makes its loan repayments in relation to borrowings for the 1984-85 
Capital Works Program and the Peel Health Campus as stipulated in 
the Western Australian Treasury Corporation loan repayment 
schedule. It also shows whether all loans that should have been 
processed in relation to the financial year have been processed.  
 
 

 Target 
2005-06 

Actual 
2005-06 

Actual 
2004-05 

Percentage of loan 
repayment transactions 
processed in accordance 
with the WATC loan 
repayment schedule. 

100% 100% 100% 

 
 

Certification of 
Performance Indicators 
 
 
I hereby certify that the 
performance indicators are based 
on proper records, are relevant 
and appropriate for assisting users 
to assess the performance of the 
Western Australian Building 
Management Authority, and fairly 
represent the performance of the 
Western Australian Building 
Management Authority for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2006.
 
 
 
 

 
R J  MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY 
 
25 August 2006 
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Certification of Financial Statements 
The accompanying financial statements of the Western Australian 
Building Management Authority have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2006 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2006. 
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which 
would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 

 
R J  MITCHELL 
ACTING DIRECTOR GENERAL 
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 

 
J LOW 
ACTING CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
 
25 August 2006 

 



 Note  
2006 2005

 $000 $000
   

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Finance costs 4 9,297 10,869
Supplies and services 5 16 -              

Total cost of services 9,313 10,869
 

Income
Revenue
Interest revenue 6 4,376 4,553

Total revenue 4,376 4,553

Total income other than income from State Government 4,376 4,553

NET COST OF SERVICES 4,937 6,316
 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 7
Service appropriation 5,633 6,679

 

Total income from State Government 5,633 6,679

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 696 363

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 93



Note
2006 2005

 $000 $000
 

ASSETS
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 12 911 864
Receivables 8 2,045 1,851
Total Current Assets 2,956 2,715 
Non-Current Assets
Receivables 8 41,445 43,491
Total Non-Current Assets 41,445 43,491
TOTAL ASSETS 44,401 46,206
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 9 16 1,774
Borrowings 10 11,312 9,713
Total Current Liabilities 11,328 11,487 
Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 10 114,889 125,210
Total Non-Current Liabilities 114,889 125,210
 
Total Liabilities 126,217 136,697 
NET ASSETS (81,816) (90,491)
 
EQUITY 11

Contributed equity 4,487 (3,139)
Accumulated deficit (86,303) (87,352)
TOTAL EQUITY (81,816) (90,491)

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 94



Note
2006 2005

 $000 $000

Balance of equity at start of period 15 (90,491) (99,168)

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 11
Balance at start of period (3,139) (10,514)
Capital contribution 7,626 7,375
Balance at end of period 4,487 (3,139)

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
(RETAINED EARNINGS) 11
Balance at start of period (87,352) (88,654)
Surplus for the period 696 363
Net adjustment on transition to AIFRS -              939
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 353 -              

Balance at end of period (86,303) (87,352)

Balance of equity at end of period (81,816) (90,491)

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 95



Note
2006 2005

 $000 $000
   

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 5,633 6,679
Capital contributions 7,626 7,375
Net cash provided by State Government 13,259 14,054 
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Finance costs (9,741) (11,188) 
Receipts
Interest received 4,433 4,603
Net cash used in operating activities 12 (5,308) (6,585) 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 1,796 1,625
Repayment of borrowings (9,700) (9,277)
Net cash used in financing activities (7,904) (7,652)

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 47 (183)

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 864 1,047 

12 911 864
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
PERIOD

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 96
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1. First time adoption of Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards 

This is the Authority’s first published financial statements prepared under Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  
 
Accounting Standard AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards’ has been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. Until 30 June 2005, the financial statements of the Authority had 
been prepared under the previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (AGAAP). 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) adopted the Standards of the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) for application to reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2005 by issuing AIFRS which comprise a Framework 
for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Urgent Issue Group (UIG) Interpretations.  
 
In accordance with the option provided by AASB 1 paragraph 36A and exercised by 
Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements’, financial instrument information prepared under AASB 132 
and AASB 139 will apply from 1 July 2005 and consequently comparative information 
for financial instruments is presented on the previous AGAAP basis. All other 
comparative information is prepared under the AIFRS basis. 
 
Early adoption of standards 
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction TI 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. This TI 
requires the early adoption of revised AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ as issued in 
December 2004, AASB 2004-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards; 
AASB 2005-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 119], AASB 
2005-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard [AASB 139, AASB 132, 
AASB 1, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’ and AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards [AASB 3]’ to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 
2005. AASB 2005-4 amends AASB 139 ’Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ so that the ability to designate financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value is restricted. AASB 2005-6 excludes business combinations involving 
common control from the scope of AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’. 
 
Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 and 
30 June 2005 are provided at note 15 “Reconciliations explaining the transition to 
AIFRS”. 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General Statement 

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions.  
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording.  
 
The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are 
legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
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Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. 
 
Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon 
the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

 
(b) Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the historical cost convention.  
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($'000). 
 
The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are disclosed at note 3 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’. 
 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Western Australian Building Management 
Authority. 
 

(d) Contributed Equity 

UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be 
designated by the Government (the owners) as contributions by owners (at the time 
of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) are designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

 
(e) Income 

Revenue 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 
 
Service Appropriations 
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in 
which the Authority gains control of the appropriated funds, which is at the time those 
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the holding account at the 
Department of Treasury and Finance (see note 7 ‘Income from State Government’). 
 
Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 
 

(f) Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income 
earned on the unexpended portion of the borrowings. Borrowing costs are expensed 
when incurred. 
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(g) Leases 

The Western Australian Building Management Authority (WABMA) completed 
construction of the Peel Health Campus in 1998–1999. WABMA funded the project 
from borrowings through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC).  

The fully operational Peel Health Campus is leased to a private health services 
provider.  WABMA reports this asset as a lease receivable.  The Department of 
Treasury and Finance ultimately intends to take over this lease receivable. 

WABMA, as a lessor, has entered into a finance lease for the use of the Peel Health 
campus facility. WABMA’s rights and obligations under finance leases, which are 
leases that effectively transfer to the lessee substantially all of the risks and benefits 
incident to ownership of the leased items, are initially recognised as a lease 
receivable asset equal to the cost of constructing Peel Health Campus (see note 8).  

The lease receivable asset is allocated between current and non-current 
components. The finance revenue resulting from the lease is allocated between 
interest revenue and reduction of the lease receivable, according to the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. 

 
(h) Financial Instruments 

The Authority has two categories of financial instrument: 
• Loans and receivables (cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and 
• Non-trading financial liabilities (payables). 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value.  Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 

 
(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and which 
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 

 
(j) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an 
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. The collectability of receivables is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 
days.  
 

(k) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets, services or 
repayment of loans. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are 
generally settled within 30 days. 
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(l) Borrowings 

Borrowings arranged through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) 
were to meet funding for Capital Works programs (1984–1987 financial years) and 
to provide funding for construction of the Peel Health campus. 
 
The 1984–1987 borrowings were initially matched in the statement of financial 
position with building assets that the Western Australian Building Management 
Authority (WABMA) had procured. These buildings are no longer controlled by 
WABMA and were written-back in the 1995–1996 financial year resulting in an 
abnormal loss of $ 156 million in that year. WABMA is now carrying an equity deficit 
that is diminishing each year as the borrowing is repaid. 
 
The Peel Health Campus borrowings were restructured on 15 June 2001 by 
agreement between WABMA and WATC. No change to WABMA’s liability for the 
Peel Health campus borrowings occurred. The loan repayment schedule and the 
maturity date were altered to better match with the primary revenue stream 
associated with the leasing of Peel Health Campus. 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at the amount of net proceeds received. 
Borrowings are then treated as a monetary liability measured at the present value of 
the cash flows associated with their service and eventual repayment. Such value is 
determined by discounting the cash flows at the rate of interest implicit in the original 
agreement. 
 
Premiums and discounts associated with raising the borrowings are amortised over 
the terms of the borrowings. 
 
Interest is payable at nominated times throughout the year and is accrued for the 
period between the last payment date and the end of the financial year. 
 
Net fair value is determined on a current risk adjusted market rates basis. 
 
The Department of Treasury and Finance ultimately intends to take over both of 
these facilities. 

 
(m) Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures have been restated on the Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) basis except for financial 
instruments which have been prepared under the previous Australian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principals (AGAAP) Accounting Standard AAS 33 
‘Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments’. The transition date to AIFRS 
for financial instruments will be 1 July 2005 in accordance with the exemption 
allowed under AASB 1, paragraph 36A and Treasurer’s Instruction 1101. 

 

3 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date do not have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 

 
 



  2006 2005
 $000 $000
 

4 Finance costs

Interest on 1984 - 1987 borrowings 5,373 6,573
Interest on Peel Health Campus borrowings 3,924 4,296

9,297 10,869
(See note 10 and note 2L)

5 Supplies and services
 
Accrued audit fees for 2005/06 (see note 13)      16 -                  

6 Interest revenue

4,376 4,553

7 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the year
Service appropriation (a) 5,633 6,679

(a)

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

Interest on lease payments in respect of Peel Health Campus   

Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of 
services delivered. 
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 $000 $000
 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

8 Receivables

Leases

Current 2,045 1,851
Non-current 41,445 43,491
Total lease receivables 43,490 45,342

(a) Terms and conditions

(b)

2,704 2,987

8,482 9,371

8,485 10,300

19,671 22,658

53,566 56,808

73,237 79,466

(i) Discounting is at implicit interest rate of lease

Discounting of lease receivable (i)

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable
later than one year and not later than five years

Gross investment in lease receivable as at 30 June 

Finance lease commitments

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable not
later than one year

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable
later than five years

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable

Lease receivables represent the investment in a direct finance lease
of the Peel Health Campus, net of unearned revenue, and is
allocated between current and non-current elements. The principal
component of the lease rental due within one year is shown as
current and the remainder as non-current.

The lease was initially valued at $55.9 million and the lease term is
20 years commencing on 13 August 1998. There is no unguaranteed
residual value associated with the lease. Payments are received
quarterly.
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 $000 $000
 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

9 Payables

Accrued interest -                    1,774
Accrued audit fees for 2005/06 16 -                   

16 1,774

10 Borrowings

1984 - 1987 borrowings 285,074 285,074
Less: Repayments of borrowings (205,269) (198,681)

79,805 86,393

Peel Health Campus borrowings 55,923 55,500
Add: Unamortised premium -                    309
Less: Repayments of borrowings (9,527) (7,279)

46,396 48,530

Total borrowings - adjusted for AASB 139 126,201 134,923

Current 11,312 9,713

Non-current 114,889 125,210

Total borrowings 126,201 134,923

(i) Significant Terms and Conditions
1984 - 1987 borrowings Peel borrowings

Nature of borrowings debt portfolio fixed principal and interest 
repayments

Composition single loan contract

Face value $55,500,000  

Premium n/a $422,910  

Date of maturity 15/08/2018

Interest rate variable 8.7562%

Interest repayment schedule quarterly quarterly

Capital repayment schedule quarterly fixed amounts quarterly fixed amounts

Repricing dates monthly n/a

Guaranteed by the Treasurer yes yes

Readily traded on organised markets yes no

short and long stock lines

WABMA has two separate borrowings through the Western Australian 
Treasury Corporation:

15/10/2017

$285,074,300  
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 $000 $000
 

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

(ii) Interest Rate Risk Exposure

Fixed interest rate maturities
1 year or less 33,625 36,510
1 to 5 years 32,230 35,348
Over 5 years 12,911 14,535
Total borrowings with interest rate risk 78,766 86,393

The effective interest rates are:

2005 2006
% %

1984-1987 borrowings 6.31 6.98
Peel Health Campus borrowings 8.075 8.075

11 Equity

Contributed Equity
Balance at start of year (3,139) (10,514)

Contributions by owners
Capital Contribution (a) 7,626 7,375
Balance at end of year 4,487 (3,139)

WABMA's exposure to interest rate risk and repricing
maturities on its borrowings as at 30 June 2006 are:

(a) Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-
reciprocal) transfers of net assets from other State Government agencies
have been designated as contributions by owners in Treasurer's Instruction
TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector
Entities' and are credited directly to equity.

Liabilities exceed assets for the Authority and there is therefore no residual
interest in the assets of the Authority. The deficiency arose from the
construction and deployment of assets to other Government agencies while
the Authority retained the undertaking to service the financial costs of that
construction activity.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

Accumulated deficit
Balance at start of year (87,352) (88,654)
Result for the period 696 363
Net adjustment on transition to AIFRS -                    939
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 353 -                   
Balance at end of year (86,303) (87,352)

12 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash
 

Cash and cash equivalents 911 864

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows
used in operating activities

Net cost of services (4,937) (6,316)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (220) (308)
Unearned revenues (139) 50
Other current liabilities (12) (11)

Net cash used in operating activities (5,308) (6,585)

13 Remuneration of Auditor

Remuneration of the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 16 -                  

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow
Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance
Sheet as follows:
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14 Financial instruments

(a) Interest rate risk exposure

(b) Credit risk exposure

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

WABMA has an exposure to interest rate risk on its borrowings as disclosed in note 10.
WABMA has no exposure to interest rate risk on its other financial assets and liabilities.

In accordance with the option provided by AASB 1.36A and exercised by TI 1106, financial
instrument information prepared under AASB 132 and AASB 139 will transition on 1 July 2005
and consequently comparative information is presented on the previous AGAAP basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any
provisions for losses, represents WABMA's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained.

The carrying amount of leases receivable represents WABMA's maximum credit risk exposure
to a single debtor.
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AGAAP AIFRS
1 July 2004 1 July 2004

Re-classify Re-classify Leases
AASB 101 AASB 101 AASB 117

15.1a 15.1b 15.1c
Note  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  

ASSETS
Current Assets   

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 1,047 -                 -               -                 1,047
Receivables -                    1,625 -                 50 1,675
Lease receivables 1,625 (1,625) -                 -                 -                   
Total Current Assets 2,672 -                   -                 50 2,722 
Non-Current Assets
Receivables -                    46,042 -                 (700) 45,342
Lease receivables 46,042 (46,042) -                 -                 -                   
Total Non-Current Assets 46,042 -                   -                 (700) 45,342 
TOTAL ASSETS 48,714 -                   -                 (650) 48,064
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables -                    -                   2,082 2,082
(2) Borrowings 9,288 -                   -                 -                 9,288

Prepaid revenues 1,589 -                   -                 (1,589) -                   
Other current liabilities 2,082 -                   (2,082) -                   
Total Current Liabilities 12,959 -                   -                 (1,589) 11,370 
Non-Current Liabilities

(2) Borrowings 134,923 -                   -                 -                 134,923
Total Non-Current Liabilities 134,923 -                   -                 -                 134,923
Total Liabilities 147,882 -                   -                 (1,589) 146,293
 
NET ASSETS (99,168) -                   -                 939 (98,229) 
EQUITY

Contributed equity (10,514) -                   -                 -                 (10,514)
Accumulated surplus (88,654) -                   -                 939 (87,715)
TOTAL EQUITY (99,168) -                   -                 939 (98,229)

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Cash assets' (AIFRS 'Cash and cash equivalents' )
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Interest bearing liabilities' (AIFRS 'Borrowings' )

 Adjustments

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

15 Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to                                     
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS)

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE DATE OF TRANSITION TO                                           
AIFRS: 1 JULY 2004 (1.39(a)(i)) 

107



AGAAP Adjustments AIFRS
30 June 2005   30 June 2005

Re-classify Re-classify Leases
AASB 101 AASB 101 AASB 117

15.1d 15.1e 15.1f
Note  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

  
ASSETS
Current Assets   

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 864 -                  -              -                 864
Receivables -                     1,797 -                54 1,851
Lease receivables 1,797 (1,797) -                -                 -                       
Total Current Assets 2,661 -                    -                54 2,715 
Non-Current Assets
Receivables -                     44,245 -                (754) 43,491
Lease receivables 44,245 (44,245) -                -                 -                       
Total Non-Current Assets 44,245 -                    -                (754) 43,491

TOTAL ASSETS 46,906 -                    -                (700) 46,206
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables -                     -                    1,774 -                 1,774
(2) Borrowings 9,713 -                    -                -                 9,713

Prepaid revenues 1,495 -                    -                (1,495) -                       
Other current liabilities 1,774 -                    (1,774) -                 -                       
Total Current Liabilities 12,982 -                    -                (1,495) 11,487 
Non-Current Liabilities

(2) Borrowings 125,210 -                    -                -                 125,210
Total Non-Current Liabilities 125,210 -                    -                -                 125,210

Total Liabilities 138,192 -                    -                (1,495) 136,697
 
NET ASSETS (91,286) -                    -                795 (90,491) 
EQUITY

Contributed equity (3,139) -                    -                -                 (3,139)
Accumulated surplus (88,147) -                    -                795 (87,352)

TOTAL EQUITY (91,286) -                    -                795 (90,491)

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Cash assets' (AIFRS 'Cash and cash equivalents' )
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Interest bearing liabilities' (AIFRS 'Borrowings' )

The transition to AIFRS includes adjustments for the transition AIFRS as at 1July 2004 
plus adjustments for the period 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY AT THE END OF THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD                                    
UNDER PREVIOUS AGAAP: 30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(a)(ii)) 
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AGAAP AIFRS
30 June 2005 30 June 2005

Leases
AASB 117

15.1g
Note  $000 $000 $000

   
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses from ordinary activities
(1) Finance costs 10,869 -                        10,869

Total cost of services 10,869 -                        10,869
 

Income
Revenue
Interest revenue 4,697 (144) 4,553

Total revenue 4,697 (144) 4,553

4,697 (144) 4,553

NET COST OF SERVICES 6,172 144 6,316
 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 6,679 -                        6,679

 
Total income from State Government 6,679 -                      6,679

(2) SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 507 (144) 363

(1) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Borrowing costs expense' (AIFRS 'Finance costs')
(2) Equivalent AGAAP line item 'Change in net assets' (AIFRS 'Surplus/(deficit)')

The transition from AGAAP to AIFRS for the year ended 30 June 2005
has no material impact on the Cashflow Statement.

RECONCILIATION OF INCOME STATEMENT (PROFIT OR LOSS) FOR YEAR ENDED                   
30 JUNE 2005 (AASB 1.39(b))

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY

Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement from AGAAP to AIFRS for Year 
Ended 30 June 2005

Total income other than income from 
State Government

Adjustments
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AIFRS Adjustments AIFRS
30 June 2005 1 July 2005

Adjustment
AASB 132

and 139
15.1h

 $000 $000 $000
  
ASSETS
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 864 -                  864
Receivables 1,851 -                    1,851
Lease receivables -                     -                    -                   

Total Current Assets 2,715 -                    2,715 
Non-Current Assets                    
Receivables 43,491 -                    43,491
Lease receivables -                     -                    -                   

Total Non-Current Assets 43,491 -                    43,491

TOTAL ASSETS 46,206 -                    46,206
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 1,774 -                    1,774
Borrowings 9,713 -                    9,713
Prepaid revenues -                     -                    -                   
Other current liabilities -                     -                    -                   

Total Current Liabilities 11,487 -                    11,487 
Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 125,210 (353) 124,857

Total Non-Current Liabilities 125,210 (353) 124,857
 
Total Liabilities 136,697 (353) 136,344
 
NET ASSETS (90,491) 353 (90,138) 
EQUITY

Contributed equity (3,139) -                    (3,139)
Accumulated surplus (87,352) 353 (86,999)
TOTAL EQUITY (90,491) 353 (90,138)

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BUILDING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

Adjustments on transition to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 
and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
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Notes for the reconciliations to Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS) 
 
Note 15.1 Re-classifications and Adjustments 

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements summarises loans and lease 
receivables under the heading of Receivables (previously reported as Lease 
receivables) and Accruals as Payables (previously Other current liabilities). 
Adjustments have also been made in compliance with AASB 117 Leases which 
states lease receivables are to be recognised at an amount equal to the net 
investment in the lease. 
 
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement establishes the 
principles for recognising and measuring financial assets and liabilities.  AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation prescribes the information to be 
disclosed and presented for financial instruments. 
 

15.1a Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

The Authority has re-classified $1,625,000 of current lease receivable from 
Lease receivables to Receivables (Current assets) and $46,042,000 of non-
current lease receivable from Lease receivables to Receivables (Non-current 
assets). 
 
15.1b Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

The Authority has re-classified $2,082,000 of accrued interest from Other current 
liabilities to payables. 
 
15.1c Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004) 

The Authority has increased current receivables by $50,000, decreased non-
current Receivables by $700,000 and decreased Prepaid revenues by 
$1,589,000.   
 
15.1d Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

The Authority has re-classified $1,797,000 of current lease receivable from 
Lease receivables to Receivables (Current assets) and $44,245,000 of non-
current lease receivable from Lease Receivables to Receivables (Non-current 
assets). 
 
15.1e Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet 

The Authority has re-classified $1,774,000 of accrued interest from Other current 
liabilities to Payables. 
 
15.1f Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet  

The Authority has increased current Receivables by $54,000, decreased non-
current Receivables by $754,000 and decreased Prepaid revenues by 
$1,495,000.  
 
15.1g Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Income Statement 

The Authority has decreased Interest revenue by $144,000.  
 

15.1h Adjustments to 1 July 2005 Balance Sheet  

An adjustment of $353,000 was made against Borrowings and Accumulated 
surplus on transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139.  

 




